

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Canadian Theses Service

Service des thèses canadiennes

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0N4

> The author has granted an irrevocable nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

> The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à la disposition des personnes intéressées.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

TSBN 0-315-54811-8



THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

INTEGRATION AND STUDENT RETENTION: AN ANALYSIS OF
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PERSISTERS AND LEAVERS FROM AN
INTEGRATED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION COLLEGE PROGRAM

Ву

Archibald S. Prescod

A Thesis Presented to

The Faculty of Graduate Studies

University of Manitoba

In Partial Filfillment of the Requirements for a

Masters Degree in Education

September, 1989

INTEGRATION AND STUDENT RETENTION: AN ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PERSISTERS AND LEAVERS FROM AN INTEGRATED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION COLLEGE PROGRAM

BY

ARCHIBALD S. PRESCOD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

© 1989

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVER-SITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis. to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and UNIVERSITY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to examine selected aspects of retention and withdrawal patterns among a group of academically disadvantaged adult students, many of whom did not complete high school matriculation, to determine if there were observable differences in integration. These students were enrolled in a pilot project in Business Administration at the community college level.

Data for the study were obtained from two sources, a 34 item questionnaire and the student records. From the collected information, three main integration indexes were constructed to determine the respondents' level of integration with the academic, social and institutional systems at the institution. In concert with the integration indexes, five background characteristics, age, sex, marital status, family size and highest school grade completed were examined.

The study found that students who enrolled in the course with a grade ten level of education or less had an equal chance of graduating. Fifty percent of the graduates began the course with a grade ten or less standing. The graduation rate was 40 percent. Older students, 24 years of age or older tended to persist more than younger students. Young females without children were the most prone to dropout. The next highest group were younger married males.

The study found that academically disadvantaged adults

can succeed if the minimum time allowed to complete the course work is increased by 50 percent. The students who benefited most from this integrated type approach are those truly committed to acquiring a postsecondary education.

The study found that there was a high level of friendship associations among the students, but many of them did not often participate often in the organized activities for students.

Finally, two of the three indexes were able to detect differences in integration between graduates and non-graduates.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project could not have been realized without the help of a number of dedicated people to whom the author is forever indebted. To each of them he would like to expres his deepest thanks.

He offers special thanks to all former IBA students who took the time to complete and return the questionnaire. Also to Deanna Muller, Director of the Community College ACCESS Program for providing access to the student records, and for her advice.

The author sincerely appreciates the assistence received from his advisor, Dr Jon Young and the thesis committee members, Dr Deo Poonwassie and Dr Benjy Levin.

The author would also like to acknowledge the assistance of the Student Advisory Service, Statistical Department, University of Manitoba.

Finally, the author would like to express special thanks to his family, his wife Leilan, and children Alexia and Barry for their patience and understanding as well for assuming responsible for those tasks which he was unable to fulfill while this project was being developed.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Pag	_
List of T	-	
	ables x	1
Chapter		
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	Rationale for the Study	1
	Background of the Study	6
	Purpopse of the Study	9
	Research Questions 1	1
	Method of the Study 1	2
	Significance of the Study 1	3
	Limitations of the Study 1	5
	Definition od Terms 1	6
	Organization of the Remainder of the Study 1	8
	Chapter One: Notes	9
2.	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE 2	0
	Part 1: General Over View of Attrition 2:	1
	Part 2: Tinto's (1975) Model of Attrition 28	3
	Pascarella and aaaaaterenzini (1977) 29)
	Getzlaf et al. (1984) 33	L
	Pascarella, et al., 34	1

Chapter		Page	
	Voorhees (1987)		36
	Part 3:		
	Constructs Used in the Study		41
	Academic Integration		4 3
	Social Integration		45
	Institutional Integration and Isolation		47
	Background Characteristics		49
	Age	• • •	49
	Sex	• • •	52
	Marital Status	• • •	54
	Family Size		56
	Pre-college Education	• • •	56
3 1	METHODOLOGY		58
	Subjects	• • •	58
	The Instrument		60
	Pilot Testing of the Questionnaire	• •	61
	Procedure Relating to Data Collection		62
	Response Rate	• • •	63
	Non-respondents	• • •	65
	Data Treatment	• • •	65
4	DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS: Part One		67
	Academic Integration		67

Chapter		Page
4	Academic Integration Index	73
	Perception of Grades Received and Intellectual Growth	74
	Highest School Grade Completed	75
	GPA as an Index of Academic Integration	77
	GPA at End of First Trimester	78
	GPA at the End of the Third Trimester	79
	Social Integration Index	81
	Academic Social Activities	83
	Purely Social Index	86
	Friendliness of Peers	88
	Institutional Integration	90
	Institution Integration Index	91
	General Institution Integration Index	92
	Helpfulness of Instructors	94
	Preceived Usefulness of CCAP Services	94
	SUMMARY	96
	Background Characteristics: Part 2	99
	Age	100
	Sex	101
	Marital Status	103
	Family Size	106
	SUMMARY	112

Chapter									Page
4	Discu	ssion a	nd Fi	inding	s: Pa	rt thr	ee .		115
	Tra	nsferee	s .						115
	Sto	pouts	• • • •						116
	Tra	nsferee	sand	1 Stop	outs:				
		Integr	ation	ı Patt	erns	• • • • •	• • • • •	• • • •	116
5	SUMM	ARY AND	CONCI	LUSION	s				120
		Summary	•••						120
		Conclus	ions						124
		Recomme	ndati	ions A	bout	the St	udy		126
		Recomen	datio	on for	Futu	re Stu	dy .		127
BIBLIOG	RAPHY	• • • • •				• • • • • •			128
APPENDI	X A		• • • •		• • • • •				134
APPENDI	X B		• • • •						135
Y DDEMUT,	v ~								130

TABLES

Table		Pages
1.	Total Enrollment by Year and sex	. 59
2.	Status of All Enrollees as Reported at Time of Study	. 59
3.	Response Rate for IBA Graduates and Non-graduates	. 64
4.	Graduates and Non-Graduates Entry Grade Level and GPA Scores foe First Trimester and First Year	. 70
5.	Academic Integration Index	. 73
6.	Social Integration Index	. 85
7.	Institutiona Integration Index	. 93
8.	Age and Persistence	. 100
9.	Persistence by Sex	. 102
10.	Marital Status and Persistence	. 104
11.	Female Persistence	105
12.	Female With and Without Children According to Persistence	107
13.	Age Sex and Academic Success	109
14.	Mean Integration Scores of Transferees and Dropouts	117

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

This chapter provides a basic introduction to the problem examined in this study. It contains a section outlining the rationale and the background of the study.

Rational for the Study

Although postsecondary education in Canada became more accessible to a greater number of people during the 1960's (Anisef, 1984), the participation and completion rates of disadvantaged groups -aboriginal peoples, immigrants and lower social status non-natives- have been low. But over the past decade there have been increased efforts to augment the number of disadvantaged people who not only register for, but complete postsecondary training. These efforts are the result of several social and political developments.

The failure of the formal education system in Canada to equip Native students with the knowledge and skills they need to function adequately in a society that is undergoing fundamental social and economic changes is well documented. Among those authors who have studied this issue are Hawthorn (1967), Cardinal (1977), Sealey and Kirkness (1974), Kirkness

(1980); and organizations like The National Indian Brotherhood (1972) and The Manitoba Indian Brotherhood (1972).

These studies were of immense value as they led to a better understanding of native educational needs. More importantly, the chronic lack of success by native students in the field of education resulted in the publication of a position paper by the National Indian Brotherhood in 1972 entitled "Indian Control of Indian education". The following year the Federal Government, which is responsible for native education, established a new policy for native education. In that policy, the government granted native people partial control over their own education. In short, the government accepted the basic goals outlined in the position paper.

This neoteric approach to native education reflected a radical change in the government's approach to its charge. The policy not only allowed Native people partial control of their education, but it also emphasized the need to develop programs to meet the educational needs of native communities (Canadian Education Association, 1984). In short, the policy recognized the need to create training opportunities for Natives at the postsecondary level.

The other development that contributed to the effort to increase the participation of disadvantaged adults in the post secondary system was the 1969 election of a New Democratic

Party (NDP) administration to office in Manitoba. The NDP brought with them to office a philosophy that advocated the inclusion of disadvantaged groups at all levels of the post secondary system (Anisef, 1985).

The desire to increase the involvement of disadvantaged groups in postsecondary education is commendable, but the barriers that contribute to their withdrawal from the formal school system have to be addressed if they are to benefit from this effort. Sociologists, in seeking to explain why students from disadvantaged backgrounds tend to be less successful with school work, have lower educational and occupational aspirations than students from middle and upper class backgrounds, theorized that these differences are associated with language skills, values, and ethnicity (Anisef, 1982).

It is commonly accepted that a child's values and language skills are initially acquired from the family. How closely related those skills are to the ones used in the school appears to be dependent on the family's social status (Mackinnon and Anisef,1979). Since language is the medium through which most school activities are conducted, children from disadvantaged backgrounds appear to be handicapped in the acquisition of language skills that are suitable for school. As a result, when they participate in learning activities, they tend not to integrate well. They tend to decelerate and

3

eventually stop attending school.

Research indicates that ethnicity can have both negative positive influences on a student's education. Carlton (1977), suggested that the Canadian policy οf multiculturalism allows minorities to cling strongly to their customs, but that practice may create certain inequalities for the group's members in terms of academic and social integration. Academic and social integration refers to the child's ability to meet normal cognitive and behavioral standards while maintaining its cultural link. The student may experience difficulty with the language and social practices that are common in the school and the adults are likely to have difficulty in the same areas in their dealings with the larger society.

On the other hand, Pike and Zureik (1978), reporting on an analysis of patterns of socialization among lower socio-economic status Italians in Toronto, questioned the validity of studies that suggest strong adherence to family oriented ideology acts as an inhibitor of social integration. These writers view strong adherence to cultural ideology as an important motivational force because the individual's social aspirations are admired, and strived for by most group members. The individual who is able to advance within the

larger society becomes a role model for the group.

Hyman (1979), examined the influence of cultural social status in terms of American aspirations and concluded that middle class parents instil a set of values ideological perspectives that emphasize educational and occupational success which result in high academic achievements.

As a whole, differences in language skills, value systems, as well as educational and occupational goals of disadvantaged groups and those on which the education system is fashioned help contribute to the low participation and completion rates of disadvantaged groups in education. Sealy and Kirkness (1973) point to a conflict between the school system and the students' background as the main cause of the poor educational performance by native students.

The difference that exist between native students and the grade school system that caused them to withdraw prematurely 4 continued at the postsecondary level. Among the efforts to help boost the number of native people entering postsecondary training in Manitoba was the establishment of The Community College ACCESS Program (CCAP). The purpose of a program such as CCAP is to help minimize the differences that exist between the disadvantaged students' background and the established practices at the institution. This is important because in a

study of student attrition, Churchill and Iwai (1981) found that the students' use of institutional facilities is an important element in understanding persistence. This finding seems to suggest that if a program like CCAP is to bridge the gap between the students' background and the college system, the students must feel a sense of congruence with the program's environment to use the services that are provided.

Social, cultural, and institutional differences are not easily overcome, but the social and political climate of the 1980's in Manitoba have provided an opportunity to address some of these issues. To date, no one has undertaken a study aimed at examining the differences that exist between disadvantaged students who persist in an Integrated Business Administration (IBA) course at the postsecondary level and those who desist. This study is undertaken with the intention of examining these differences.

BACKGROUND OF THE STUDY

In Manitoba there have been a number of programs especially designed to help disadvantaged adult learners. Academically disadvantaged adults learners are defined as individuals who were not successful in the secondary school system. They generally tend to be from minority groups, recent immigrants, and others with limited resources, or

inadequate life skills. Most of these programs have been attached to, but are not necessary an integral part of, an institution of higher learning. Coordinated by the Post Secondary Career Development (PSCD) branch of the Manitoba Department of Education, these programs are intended to help disadvantaged learners grapple with the exigencies of college and university life.

This study focuses on one aspect of one of these programs. The program is called the Community College ACCESS Program (CCAP) and the specific focus of this study is the Integrated Business Administration (IBA) course.

As indicated earlier, the purpose of CCAP is to assist disadvantaged learners to enter, and to succeed in, the post-secondary education system. To help realize this goal, financial, academic and social supports are provided while the learners are enrolled at Red River Community College (RRCC).

CCAP is accessible to adult learners who because of social or economic limitations, lack of formal education, residency in a remote area of Manitoba, or due to cultural or economic factors, have not had an opportunity to obtain a post secondary education. Although CCAP is open to anyone who meets its criteria, preference has been given to applicants of aboriginal ancestry. Initially, CCAP was restricted to selecting applicants of aboriginal ancestry and were residents

of northern Manitoba. Today CCAP has accommodation for some southern students.

In terms of the supports provided by CCAP, each student recevies a bi-weekly stipend. Tutition fees, books, and a small allowance for supplies are provided. Individual tutorials, personal counseling, relocation, budgeting skills, interpersonal skills, and day-care assistance where needed are also available.

In 1984 an agreement between CCAP and the Business Administration Department at RRCC resulted in a project known as the Integrated Business Administration (IBA) course. The purpose of this course is to provide an opportunity for individuals who have an interest in studying Business Administration (BA) but were unable satisfy the normal academic entrance requirement at RRCC.

It was agreed that the main difference between the normal BA course and the IBA course would be the minimum time required to complete them. The course materials, and the academic standards are the same for both courses. The minimum time required to complete the BA course is two years while that for the IBA course is three years. With this approach, the learners are involved in upgrading activities while registered in three college courses during the first two trimesters. For example, the three registered courses in the

first trimester could be: Introduction to Business, Marketing, and Mathematics. The upgrading component could consist of Communications, Reading Comprehension, and Group Dynamics. Due to the design of the course and the pace at which the learning material is delivered, it takes two years to complete the material that is covered in the first year of the normal BA course. The final year's activities are the same for both courses. Thus, a traditional course has been redesigned to meet the needs of a non-traditional clientele without altering the materials used or the evaluation criteria. Only the minimum time needed to complete the course was extended giving the learners more time to absorb the learning material.

A maximum of twenty-five students may be selected for this course. Each class was comprised of CCAP students and students who had applied to RRCC but did not meet the normal entrance requirement. The latter are termed provincial entry students. The project is managed by CCAP therefore, with the exception of financial supports the provincial entry students receive all the same supports as CCAP students.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine selected aspects of the retention and withdrawal patterns of students who

enrolled in the IBA course in 1984 and in 1985. These students were scheduled to graduate in 1987 and 1988 respectively.

In any attempt to explain students' departure from college, an important consideration appears to be their integration with various aspects of the college environment. individual's integration into the environment at the institution appears to be influenced by his/her background characteristics and dispositions (Tinto, 1975:93). words, Tinto argued that there must be an environmental fit between the student and the learning institution for persistence to occur. He stressed that the individual's grade point average (GPA) at the learning institution is indication of academic integration; that social integration can be determined by the student's interaction with his/her peers and instructors; and that the student's satisfaction with the institution indicates institutional commitment. other words, if a student is able to meet the minimum academic standard to maintain enrollment then academic integration is said to exist. When the student is able to develop comfortable relationships with his/her peers and instructors, and feels at ease using the services provided by the college, social.

As the data for this study was collected after the participants were scheduled to graduate, and since the

supports provided by CCAP are directly related to participation in the IBA program, students do not have the option of choosing another institution from which to acquire their Business diploma and at the same time receive CCAP's support, institutional commitment is not considered in this Instead institutional integration -the students perception regarding the helpfulness of their instructors and the usefulness of the services provided by CCAP- are substituted.

Specifically, this study seeks to address the following questions.

- Are there recognizable differences between those learners who persist in the IBA course and those who withdraw in terms of academic, social, and institutional integration?
- 2. How do selected background characteristics such as age, sex, marital status, family size and pre-college education encourage or inhibit students' integration at the community college level.

Research Questions

This study attempts to answer the following questions:

1a. Academic Integration

-Do graduates and non-graduates differ in terms of academic integration with regards to the grade point average (GPA) received at the end of first and third trimesters of the program?

- -Are there differences between graduates and nongraduates regarding their perception of their own intellectual growth?
- -Would academic accomplishment prior to enrolment in the IBA course contribute to a difference in persistence between graduates and non-graduates?

1b. Social integration

- -Is there a difference between graduates and nongraduates in terms of academic social activities such as; working on or discussing, academic assignments in study groups?
- -Are there differences between these two groups of students regarding the amount of time they participated in purely social extra-curricular activities?
- -Is there a difference between graduates and nongraduates in terms of friendliness with their peers?

1c. Institutional integration

-Is there a difference between the two groups of learners with regards to the helpfulness of their instructors and the usefulness of the services provides by CCAP?

Method of the Study

The information needed to address these questions was collected partly through a questionnaire and partly by the use of student records. A questionnaire was distributed to forty of the forty-three educationally disadvantages students who enrolled in the IBA course during the first two years of its existence (1984 and 1985) at Red River Community College in Winnipeg, Manitoba. Thirty-four of the forty-three students

were of aboriginal background. Thirty-five of the forty-three students dropped out of grade school before completing grade twelve; nine of whom did not complete grade ten. Half of whom were of traditional college students age -23 years old or younger. The other half were 24 years of age or older.

A questionnaire package was mailed to all participants whose current address was known to the researcher. The survey was conducted fifteen months after the scheduled graduation date for the first intake of students, and three months after the scheduled graduation date of the second intake. As a result three students could not be contacted. The number of students in the 1984 and 1985 intakes was twenty-two and twenty-one respectively.

In terms of the literature review, information about disadvantaged adults at the postsecondary level in Canada is meager. Therefore, this study draws on a body of literature relating mostly to general student attrition. Tinto's model of student attrition acts as the theoretical framework for this study.

Significance of the Study

Many researchers have tried to determine if personal characteristics are associated with dropping out, few others, among them (Tinto 1975) have examined the process of

withdrawal in a manner that might provide an explanation of why these characteristics are important. This study attempts to link these two approaches as a means of understanding student withdrawal.

According to Anisef (1985), the policies to foster growth in higher education in Canada were based on two basic premises. The first premise was that "higher education was the key to economic productivity". The second was that "the returns to the individual and to society would be higher than any other type of investment" (Anisef, 1985:1-2). Furthermore, improving accessibility to higher education was seen as a major means of catering to the rising social aspirations and of increasing the economic prospects of the culturally and socially disadvantaged, as well as other regional groups across Canada (Anisef, 1985:2).

The results of this study may be useful to anyone involved in providing educational services to disadvantaged adults. If we accept the position of Brundage and Mackeracher (1980:7) that each learner brings a unique model of reality to the learning situation, (s)he brings unique needs and goals. The educational system therefore, must be prepared to accept, respect, and accommodate these individual needs and goals. To be able to accommodate those needs and goals, those responsible for providing such services must have a sound

understanding of the differences that exist among the students in order to help them to realize their goals. This study will endeavour to provide information on the differences that exist between students who persist and those who desist. This information will also be useful in the selection and registration process, as well as to instructors and counselors who are in direct daily contact with the students.

Some of the findings will benefit those who have to deal with adult learners that have been out of the learning environment for many years and have returned for retraining. Also, some of the findings may be applicable to the general student population and may help in reducing the general attrition rate.

Finally, this study will add to the penurious literature on academically disadvantaged learners in the postsecondary system. It will also provide information on an education program specifically designed to help disadvantaged people to persist at the postsecondary level.

Limitations of the Study

This study is restricted to those students who obtained support from, or were attached to, CCAP and were initially registered in the IBA course at RRCC in either September of 1984 or 1985. They were scheduled to graduate in June 1987

and 1988 respectively. The two groups total 43.

The number of participants in this study is rather small because of the experimental nature of the project. Consequently, the differences between graduates and nongraduates in the test of some of the constructs are low. The results of this study are limited by the problems associated with data collection by questionnaire with respect to the following:

- a. the content and structure of the questionnaire
- b. the ability of the respondents to decode accurately the questions and to provide complete responses
- c. the willingness of the respondents to be candid with each response
- d. locating all former students
- e. the interpretation of the data by the researcher.

Finally, since the study focuses on a group of academically disadvantaged students in a pilot project the results of the study should only be generalized with caution.

DEFINITIONS OF TERMS

1. ACADEMIC INTEGRATION

Academic integration refers to the ability, or the willingness of students to meet the minimum standard of performance to maintain enrollment at the institution.

2. ACCESS/CCAP

Abbreviations for The Community College ACCESS Program.

3. A DROPOUT

A dropout is an individual who has withdrawn from the IBA course before graduating and has no immediate plans to return to a program of studies.

4. INSTITUTIONAL INTEGRATION

Institutional integration refers to the students perception of congruence with the services offered at the institution.

5. INTEGRATED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION COURSE (IBA)

A course in business administration with a lower academic entrance requirements but have the same exit academic standards as the normal BA course. However, the completion time is three years (30 calendar months).

6. NORMAL BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION COURSE (BA)

A course in business administration requiring a Manitoba grade 12 standing and requires two years to complete (20) calendar months.

7. A PERSISTER

Anyone who registered in the IBA course at RRCC in either September, 1984 or 1985 and graduated in either June, 1987 or 1988 or was enrolled in a course at the time of writing -Fall, 1988.

8. SOCIAL INTEGRATION

Social integration refers to the level of interaction which occurred between the student and his/her peers and instructors.

9. STOPOUT

A stopout is any individual who withdrew from the IBA course before graduating, but had re-entered the post secondary system by the time this study was conducted.

ORGANIZATION OF THE REMAINDER OF THE THESIS

Chapter 1, the introductory chapter, is followed by a review of the available literature pertaining to the study in Chapter 2. In this chapter a brief summary and explanation of the research and professional writing on student attrition are presented. Chapter 3 provides and explanation of the method used in conducting the study. The results of the survey, the related discussion, and an explanation about the construction of each integration index are provided in Chapter 4. Chapter 5, the final chapter, takes the form of a general conclusion of the study, and offers some recommendations and suggestions for contemplation by those interested in adult education.

CHAPTER ONE: NOTES

The term aboriginal peoples refere to native people who are classified as Treaty, and Non-Treaty Indians, Inuit, and Metis.

The National Indian Brotherhood and the Manitoba Indian Brotherhood have both been renamed. They are now The Assembley of First Nations and The Assembly of Manitoba Chiefs respectively.

The normal rate of progress for students in the grade school system is to complete one grade of schooling per year. When a student progress at a slower rate (s)he is said to decelerate.

By 1981, only 2 percent of Canadian Natives had university degrees according to the Globe and Mail (Dec. 3, 1983).

The normal requirement for entry to the Business Administration course at Red River Community College is Manitoba high school matriculation or its equivalent.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Student attrition is a continuing concern at the postsecondary level. A considerable amount of research and
writing has been done on the issue. From that repertoire,
this researcher was able to cull relevant information for this
study. The literature on disadvantaged adult students in postsecondary education is sparse, as a result the majority of the
review in this chapter relates to the issue of general
student attrition at the postsecondary level. This study uses
Tinto's model of student attrition as its principal
theoretical reference, but also draws from other studies
relevant to the topic.

Most of the literature reviewed was significant to various aspects of attrition and was therefore relevant to the study. In this chapter, brief summaries of those works are given. The chapter has three parts. In Part 1, a general over view of the literature on attrition is given, as well as some professional views on what should be done to help educationally disadvantaged students adjust to college work. Part 2 provides a synopsis of Tinto's model and four other related studies. Part 3, the final section, is devoted to a discussion about the constructs used in this study.

PART 1

General Overview of Attrition

Every year thousands of students in Canada register at various postsecondary institutions. In the 1986-87 academic year, 796 400 students enrolled in full time postsecondary courses; 321 000 and 475 400 students enrolled at community colleges and universities respectively. In Manitoba, 3 897 students enrolled in community college courses while there were 17 515 university under-graduates in 1986-7 (Statistics Canada, 1987).

Numerous studies have been conducted and many theories developed, but only limited progress has been made in reducing student attrition (Garrison 1987). Past studies have looked at persistence/attrition behaviour of participants in noncredit university courses (Boshier 1973); preparation for General Educational Development (GED) test (Darkenwald and Gavin 1987); while the majority of researchers focused university and community college students. Among researchers in the United States of America (USA) who have examined the issue of attrition are Astin (1975); Tinto (1975); Pascarella and Terenzini (1977); Pascarella, Duby, and Iverson (1983); Noel (1985) Parcarella, Smart, and Ethington (1986) and Voorhees (1987). Among those who have researched the issue in Canada are Koodoo (1982); and Campbell (1984).

Most of the studies examined how well traditional students integrate with their postsecondary learning environments. The traditional postsecondary education system is designed primarily to serve those who have matriculated from the secondary school system. When matriculation was the only route of admission to the postsecondary system, it was assumed that once a person was admitted success was assured through self-discipline and self-motivation. These attributes were assumed to lead to academic success (McKenzie and Mitchinson 1988). As a consequence of these premises, and entrance requirements, participation by academically disadvantaged adults was severely restricted if not denied.

However, economic and social events since World War 11 have resulted in modifications to the admission criteria (Cross 1971; Anisef 1985). Between 1946 and the 1950's, there was a demand for a highly skilled work force in Canada. To meet that demand, Canada relied heavily on immigration as the domestic supply of skilled workers was extremely low (Peitchinis 1971:3). Also, during the high unemployment of the late 1950's and early 1960's it became apparent that there was a direct relationship between the level of education one had, and the likelihood of being unemployed (Peithchinis 1971).

Those economic and social conditions were severe enough

to engender the Federal Government to increase financial assistance to postsecondary students. This in turn resulted in an increased effort by postsecondary institutions to change the admission criterion so that a broader range of students could pursue postsecondary education through mature student entry.

(1981) argued that Cross the institutions' initial response to adult entry student was to admit them to the system, but once there the students were subjected to the same traditional curriculum and teaching methods the matriculated entry students. As a result, the gap between the matriculated and the non-matriculated entry students increased rather than decreased. Equal access, she stressed, cannot be equated with equity of opportunity. She defined equity as the accessibility and availability of learning opportunities (Cross 1981:46). Thus, although accessibility was the system remained the same. Consequently, for the educationally disadvantaged student, access to the postsecondary system was likened to "a revolving door".

Literature that is specifically concerned with the attrition or persistence of non-traditional, or academically disadvantaged adult students at the postsecondary level is meagre. The majority of this literature is either critical of the institutions for admitting such students, or conversely

for not offering them sufficient help. Those who are critical of the institutions for admitting such students generally express concern about the maintenance of scholastic standards (Cohen 1975; Bercuson et al.. 1984). The other critics cite a lack of academic and personal supports for the new clientele (Dugan 1970; Cross 1971).

A general study of attrition indicated that in the USA., approximately 60 per cent of university students complete their degrees. Further, only 44 per cent of any cohort completed the degree requirements in the minimum time specified (Astin 1975:10; Tinto 1987:15). However, of the remaining 56 per cent, 61 per cent eventually graduated, but it took as many as nine years to do so (Tinto 1987:17).

At the community college level in the USA, the rate of attrition is much higher. About 59 per cent of these students withdrew before completing their studies (Astin 1975:111). A review of Canadian literature indicated that attrition rates at the post secondary level are in the region of 50 per cent (Gomme and Gilbert 1984). At Red River Community College (RRCC), the institution which the students in this study attended, the attrition rate in 1984-85 academic year was 44 percent (Data obtained from RRCC registrar's office in a telephone conversation).

Although universities and community colleges in Canada

have provisions for admitting non-matriculated adult learners, Statistics Canada does not collect information on the manner in which students are admitted to institutions of higher learning. Darling (1985) surveyed forty-four registrars and admission officers at various institutions across Canada regarding the bases on which students are admitted. He concluded that fewer than five per cent of full time students are admitted to the postsecondary system without high school matriculation (Darling 1985:91).

The literature shows that both matriculated and non-matriculated students are prematurely withdrawing from their studies for various reasons. Some transfer to other institutions, others re-enter the system at a later date, while others stay away completely (Cross 1981; Tinto 1987).

As a result of the high number of withdrawals, those concerned with the plight of students advocated a shift in the priority of the postsecondary system. They argue that the priority in higher education should shift from one of equal access to education, to one of equal educational opportunity. These critics have suggested interventional programs designed to help retain those students who would benefit from such assistance, especially those who, if left on their own limited resources, may dropout (Dugan 1970; Cross 1971; Gomme and Gilbert 1984). On the other hand, critics of the egalitarian

approach are asking serious questions about who should be educated and why. Some writers are calling for a return to elitism, or at least to a much higher degree of student selectivity (Gould 1972:24; Bercuson et al. 1984).

The traditional education system, according to Cross (1971), has failed many academically marginal students in the past. It is her contention that until there is a deliberate attempt by decision makers to grapple with the problem of student integration, the probability of success for many disadvantaged learners will continue to be low. Providing access without catering to the immediate academic and personal needs of these students will only cause their educational experience to be a frustrating one. According to Dugan:

The basic priority today should be to provide superior and creative educational offerings and services in order to allow disadvantaged youth to compete fairly. Academic standards will not suffer from the attention paid to the needs of the disadvantaged. In fact, the educational experience of all students will be enhanced by careful attention to new programs and new directions for meeting the needs of the disadvantaged (Dugan 1970:49).

Although Dugan's comments were in reference to the situation of the youth in the USA in the 1970's, these comments appear relevant to the situation of the disadvantaged student in Manitoba's postsecondary system.

In summary, the ideas expressed in this section are all relevant to this study. The ideas envisioned by both Cross

and Dugan are similar to the educational philosophy used in the IBA course. The students' personal and financial needs are addressed; the curriculum is designed so that the students have more time to grasp the concepts that must be understood; thus, providing a more realistic chance for the students to integrate academically, may help social and institutional integration.

Even the concerns expressed by Gould, and Bercuson et al. are also addressed. These authors expressed concern about academic standards. While these writers are concerned with the academic standards of students on entry, the philosophy of the IBA course places more emphasis on GPA performance each trimester and on competency at graduation.

Finally, not all students who are accepted into the system will integrate, as a result those students who are unwilling or unable to meet the minimum standards needed to maintain registration are encouraged to withdraw. Also, some students may find the IBA course unsuitable, in such instances students are encouraged to withdraw from the course and register in a discipline more suited to their interest.

PART 2

Tinto's (1975) Model of Attrition

Most of the research on student attrition in the past decade makes reference to a theoretical model advanced by Tinto. Building on the earlier work of Spady (1970), the Tinto (1975), model avers that the degree of congruence between the student and the institutional environment is the critical element in understanding persistence/withdrawal behaviour. The model portrays the process not as one which can be determined by a single variable, but as a multi-faceted procedure. Students are seen as coming to the institution with various background characteristics (age, sex, ethnicity, precollege performance, parents' educational background, and social economic status etc.,). These traits are identified as contributing to the student's level of initial commitment both to the goal of graduating and to the particular institution.

According to the model, those background traits and initial commitments are associated with, and affect the student's academic and social integration at the institution which ultimately contributes to his/her decision to persist, or to withdraw. The greater the degree of social and academic integration, the greater is the resultant commitment to the goal of graduating. Conversely, the less the individual

integrates with the academic and social systems of the institution the greater is the probability for withdrawal (Tinto, 1975; Spady, 1971).

Not surprisingly, the popularity of the model has resulted in it being the subject of considerable research. Some of those who have tested different parts of, and sometimes, the whole model are Pascarella and Terenzini (1977); Getzlaf, Sedlacek, Kearney, and Blackwell (1984); Pascarella, et al. (1986); and Voorhees, (1987). With the exception of Voorhees' study, these writers generally agree that the model is useful as a theoretical device for explaining student persistence/withdrawal behaviour from both residential and non-residential institutions. A few of them however, questioned the effect of some constructs in explaining attrition/withdrawal behaviour. A summary of these studies and their findings are here given.

Pascarella and Terenzini (1977)

This study examined one of the constructs from the Tinto model; namely, that there is a difference between persisters and voluntary dropouts with regard to the patterns of informal interaction between freshmen students and faculty. It was a longitudinal study on freshmen at Syracuse University in New York during the 1975-76 academic year. The university had an

undergraduate enrollment of about 10 000 students, 2 400 of whom were freshmen. A computer was used to select a random sample of 1 008 of the freshmen. The data were collected at three different intervals: just prior to the commencement of classes, during the school year, and in the fall of 1976. Those students who did not register in the subsequent academic year -1976- were considered as dropouts. By the time the last data collection was done there were 344 of the original students remaining.

The study used a six item questionnaire to test the type and frequency of student/faculty interaction. The authors found that not all types of student/faculty contacts were of equal importance in assisting academic and social integration. Of the six types of contacts tested it was found that interaction relating to intellectual or course related matters clearly showed the most discrimination between persisters and voluntary leavers. The second most discriminating interaction related to discussions about students career concerns. These contacts were strong enough for the researchers to verify the usefulness of Tinto's model regarding that construct. The other items: help in resolving personal problems, discussion of a campus problem or to socialize informally, showed modest relationships to persistence.

Finally, they suggested that in terms of student/faculty

informal interaction and persistence, the first year experience makes a significant contribution beyond the influence of initial student characteristics. They believed that certain students' personal issues cause them to seek out help from some faculty members. As a result of that initial contact close relationships with faculty beyond the classroom were developed. As a result, these interactions generally tend to increase the level of academic and social integration and the likelihood of persistence. Other students who did not have cause to seek help often did not develop close relationships with faculty.

Getzlaf et al. (1984)

This study was used to test the ability of Tinto's model to discriminate persisters from withdrawers among freshmen who, without being in academic difficulty, voluntarily withdrew from Washington State University (WSU). The focus of the study was to identify those voluntary withdrawees who transferred to other institutions and those who withdrew from the postsecondary system.

The study found Tinto's model to be an empirically useful device for studying persistence/attrition behaviour. They also found that when academic aptitude and previous school performance are controlled, the change in cumulative GPA from

high school to college showed a marked difference between persisters and withdrawees.

There were two groups in this study. The attrition group consisted of 237 students who enrolled in the spring of 1978, but did not re-enrol in the following fall. The other, group (controlled) was comprised of 234 students who enrolled in the spring of 1978, and did re-enrol in the subsequent fall.

The study utilized both pre-college data and a survey. The survey consisted of items relating to the students' reasons for leaving and covered personal, institutional, academic and social matters. The instrument was sent six months after the end of the 1978 spring semester. The response rate was 63 percent.

Tinto's model of undergraduate attrition was tested by operationalizing five of the seven constructs: family background and individual attributes, past educational experience and goal commitment, institutional commitment, academic, and social integration.

The reachers found that the main difference between the two groups was the drop in the cumulative GPA from high school to college within the attrition group. This finding demonstrates the importance of one of Tinto's main contentions about academic integration: perceived academic and intellectual development. The study supports Tinto's argument

that if the student thinks that there is a marked decline in his/her academic performance (s)he is more likely to depart.

The study also found that those who dropped out of higher education seem to have lower academic ability, perform poorer at college, were less academically, and socially integrated than those who transferred to another institution.

Finally, the researchers found that when compared to the control group of persisters, the attrition group as a whole, had lower academic ability, performed poorer in their previous schools, had a greater GPA decline from high school to college and had a lower commitment to the institution they attended. Thus, the main constructs of the Tinto model were validated by this study.

Another of Pascarella studies was centered on community colleges in the United States. It is therefore important to note here that two year community colleges in the United States perform a totally different function than do community colleges in Canada. In the United States community colleges generally provide a direct link to the senior or four year universities. In Canada, Community Colleges do not function as a direct link to the university system except in the provinces of Alberta, British Columbia and Quebec. Community Colleges in Canada grant diploma and certificate accreditation

in technology, health care and trades.

Pascarella, et al., (1986)

This study was concerned with the persistence/attrition pattern of students who began their postsecondary education at two year community colleges in the United States with the intention of obtaining at least an undergraduate degree. The study was used to test the usefulness of Tinto's theoretical model as a means of examining persistence/attrition behaviour from the postsecondary.

The researchers found the model to be useful in analysing persistence/attrition from the postsecondary system. Their findings confirmed the importance of the student/environment fit as the dominant factor in degree persistence. Measures of academic and social integration showed the most consistent pattern of positive direct effects on persistence. On the other hand, they concluded that pre-college traits indirectly influenced degree persistence.

Two sets of data were collected for this study: one in 1971, the other in 1980. The first sample consisted of 10 326 students who initially registered at 85 community colleges in the United States in the fall of 1971, with the intent of obtaining a bachelor's degree. A follow-up survey was done in the winter of 1980, nine years after those individuals first

registered. Thus, it was a longitudinal study. The final survey yield a sample of 825 students (418 men and 407 women).

Five constructs of the Tinto model were used: (1) back-ground characteristics (2) initial commitments (3) academic and social integration (4) initial institution commitments and (5) persistence/withdrawal behaviour.

The results revealed that 53 percent of the respondents to both samples had completed their B.A. degrees within the nine years. Another 15 percent of the males and 17 percent of females respondents were still actively pursuing their undergraduate degrees.

The researchers found three variables to have positive effects on persistence for both sexes. For men, there were academic, institutional, and social integration. For women, there were academic, and social integration, as well as socioeconomic status.

Only four background characteristics and initial commitments appear to influence persistence. For men, secondary school achievement had a positive direct effect on persistence, but male degree completion was negatively influenced by commitment to initial institution. For women, socioeconomic status had a positive direct effect on degree completion.

Finally, the study did not find a single background trait

or initial commitment to show a consistent pattern of positive direct effect across both persistence measures for each sex (Pascarella et al. 1986:64).

Voorhees (1987)

The purpose of this study was to investigate the effect of community college students' background characteristics on their persistence. The author of this study was concerned that all the attrition models were centered on the younger, more typical university student 18 to 24 years of age. Voorhees felt that since community college students are generally older and enroll in academic activities for a wider range of reasons than do university students a study of these students was warranted.

This researcher's findings were inconsistant with Tinto's results. The study examined the effect of the main constructs used in Tinto's model on persistence at junior college. He did not find GPA, informal interaction with instructors -academically or socially- to positively affect persistence. Voorhees found academic integration to be independent of persistence. He also found that females persisted more than males. Reasons for enrolling and intent to return were found to have direct positive influence on persistence.

The sample for this study consisted of 369 new and

continuing students who were enrolled at a suburban community college which had a total enrollment of 5 700 students 1984. The participants were randomly selected from one of 56 classes that wrote the American Testing Program's Student Opinion Survey. This form which is used at two year colleges, is a standardized instrument aimed at obtaining profiles of student attitudes and opinions. The study group was representative of the student body with respect to ethnicity. The demographic characteristics of all the students enrolled at the college were compared with those of the study group. The result indicated that females were slightly under represented (58.4 percent to 61.4 percent) within the sample group.

Because enrollment patterns at community colleges are not necessarily sequential, persistence was operationalized as re-entry in either the spring, or the fall of 1985 semesters. In other words, a student who is currently registered may not return next term, but may re-enter in some subsequent term.

The study found that 243 students (63.4 percent) reentered during the allotted time span and 135 students (36.6 percent) did not return during either semester. As this study did not control for academic dismissal, it was impossible to differentiate between voluntary and involuntary withdrawal. The important findings of this study relating to persistence were sex, purpose for enrolling, and intent to return. The study found sex to be a significant factor in persistence. It found that females persisted at a higher rate than males regardless of full or part-time status. The retention figures for full time students were 71.8 and 60.8 percent for female and male respectively. For part-time students the figures were 69.4 and 46.3 percent for female and male respectively.

When the constructs of GPA, amount of informal interaction between student and faculty outside the classroom, and time spent studying, which according to Tinto help academic integration, were analysed, they were found to be independent of persistence.

Another finding of this study showed a significant association between purpose for enrolling and persistence. There was no association between minority status and persistence. The least persistence was found among students who indicated "self improvement" and "others" as their purpose for enrolling. There was no association between satisfaction with the college and persistence. Those students who planned to return the next term did so regardless of their satisfaction or dissatisfaction with the instruction.

In summary, all the studies reviewed in this section

except one, viewed Tinto's model as a conceptually and empirically useful means of studying student persistence/attrition behaviour. The one study, Voorhees', appears to negate the usefulness of the model in the junior college setting.

The reviewed studies showed that the model was tested in both junior and senior college settings. It was used to examine persistence/attrition behaviour from a single institution, and from the postsecondary system as a whole. In each case, persistence/attrition behaviour was found to be associated with the student's level of integration.

How well a student integrates with the institution's environment was shown to be related to academic integration. If the student is able and willing to satisfy the minimum standard needed to maintain enrolment, social and institutional integration may occur. Academic integration is the one variable that appears to have a direct positive influence on persistence at the institution even at junior colleges. Three of the four studies cited confirmed the validity of the model.

Voorhees tested a number of constructs from the Tinto model and did not find them to have a direct positive effect on persistence. He found academic integration to be independent of persistence. In other words, most community

satisfy the college students were able to academic requirements needed to maintain enrolment but did not remain enrolled at the institution at which they first entered the postsecondary system. This result is not unexpected considering that community colleges in the USA function as the first step in the postsecondary system for many students especially the academically and socially disadvantaged (Astin 1975). To obtain their first degree these students have to transfer to a senior college. In describing junior college (1979b) described them as students Cross having lower educational and occupational aspirations than their peers who begin their education at four year colleges.

Perhaps if Voorhees were to do a longitudinal study of the respondents to his study five years hence, he may find that although they had withdrawn from the junior institutions they persisted in the postsecondary system. Pascarella et al. (1986) did such a study and found that community college students do persist in the postsecondary system even if they withdraw from junior colleges.

Finally, the literature showed that the influence of background traits on persistence/attrition behaviour varies from student to student (Spady 1971, Tinto 1975 Bean 1980; Pascarella et al. 1983). Given the above findings, it is clear that there will be differences among the participants

of the IBA course. Although these IBA students maybe disadvantaged in terms of language skills and lower educational and occupational aspirations than students who follow the normal BA course the effect of their background traits on persistence/attrition is worthy of investigation.

PART 3

Constructs Used in the Study

It is clear from the literature that no single factor can explain student attrition at the college level. There is a lack of homogeneity among students who withdraw from college in terms of scholastic skills, social maturity or background traits. Yet there is compelling evidence to indicate that students' persistence/attrition behaviour can only be understood in terms of the students' environmental fit. Research suggest that the degree of fit between the student and the college environment may be influenced by background characteristics.

Research indicates that academic integration has the greatest direct positive effect on persistence at senior colleges (Pascarella et al. 1983), but is independent of persistence at junior colleges (Voorhees 1987). Institutional integration also has a direct positive effect on persistence

(Churchill and Iwai 1981; Tinto 1987). Social integration on the other hand does not appear to have a consistent positive effect on persistence (Spady 1971; Tinto 1975). These findings are associated with senior colleges. At the junior college level, integration in any of the constructs listed here appear to be independent of persistence.

Tinto's model which was developed from data obtained from students at a residential institution showed social integration to be useful, but not essential for persistence to occur (Spady 1970; Tinto 1975; Pascarella et al. 1986). For some students, females in particular, social integration had a direct positive influence on persistence (Pascarella et al. 1986:67).

Since the impact of social integration on persistence appears to vary, that variation could be attributed to background characteristics. The remainder of this chapter provides information as to why some variables that are associated with the model are excluded from this study, and a discussion about those that are included.

Before elaborating on the effects of background characteristics and other variables associated with persistence/withdrawal behaviour of students enrolled in the IBA course at RRCC, it should be noted that economic status will be excluded from this study and ethnicity will be

examined in a different manner than has been done in previous studies. Economic status is excluded because the intent of CCAP is to help economically disadvantaged people. Hence, applicants from upper and middle income households are automatically screened out. Previous studies have used ethnicity or culture, to compare the academic success of minority groups with that of the dominant group. That will not be done in this study as over 90 percent of the study group are of aboriginal origin. Instead, the degree to which the learners integrate into an educational system which is culturally different from their own has been considered.

Academic Integration

The literature depicts student persistence/attrition behaviour as a dynamic interplay of academic and social skills, background characteristics and institutional standards. Academic integration according to Tinto (1975), is the ability of the learner to meet the minimum academic requirements to maintain enrollment at the institution at which (s)he is enrolled. There are two basic measures of academic integration. First, integration into the academic system at an institution is measured in terms of the grades and GPA the faculty assigns to the individual. The second measure of academic integration is the student's perceived

intellectual growth (Tinto, 1975:104). Grades are seen as an indication of the learner's willingness to meet the academic standards specified by the institution (Spady, 1970). Grades, according to Tinto, represent an extrinsic reward which is bestowed on the individual for participating in the academic activities college. οf the On the other intellectual growth is the learner's intrinsic indicator of congruence with the institution's academic standards. appears to be a direct relationship between the student's perceived intellectual development and persistence.

Although many studies have shown grade performance to be the single most important predictor of persistence (Astin, 1975; Tinto, 1975: Pascarella, et al. 1986) it has also been noted that many of those who voluntarily depart had received grades that were equal to, and sometimes better than, those who persisted (Tinto 1975). Tinto suggests that when a learner receives a high grade, but that grade is not perceived by the learner as a true reflection of his/her intellectual growth, the possibility of that person withdrawing from that institution.

Both grades and the student's perceived intellectual development appear to influence persistence, therefore both of these constructs are used as indicators of academic integration. The GPA received by each student at the end of

the first and third trimesters of the program are also used as indicators of academic integration. These two periods were chosen because research indicates (Pascarella et al.1986) that most withdrawals occur in the first year of college attendance.

Social Integration

The learner's integration into the social system at the institution has been identified by researchers (Tinto, 1975; Pascarella, 1986) as positively influencing persistence. Social integration is identified as the interaction between the individual and those around him/her, staff and peers, with whom (s)he must associate while at college. Both the individual and those around him/her have varying traits. Social integration is measured in terms of the individual's perception of the level of congruency between himself/herself and the social environment at the institution. It results mainly through informal peer group association, (semi-formal extra-curricular activities) with instructors and office staff (Tinto, 1975:107). Spady (1971) found that the notion of social integration is directly associated with persistence. Spady went on to suggest that even if an individual perceives the social climate at the institution to deviate from his/her social values, that will not lead to departure if social

congruence can be obtained via friendship associations. In other words, a person must find some socially compatible group with which to establish membership. If the learner perceives that social incongruence exists with the main culture at the college, but is able to identify with some sub-cultural group on or off campus, then persistence is likely to continue.

A sub-cultural group is a minority group in which the student is able to establish membership. Such groups may be found on or off campus. Generally, one should have little difficulty in finding such a group on campus as few general purpose postsecondary institutions are so small or so homogeneous that only the main culture exists. Actually, many universities encourage the establishment of sub-cultural groups. Sub-cultural groups play an important role in alleviating academic and social incongruence (Tinto, 1987).

Not only is association in a sub-cultural group linked with persistence, but so is participation in extra-curricular activities. Participation in both formal and semi-formal college activities are believed to provide a link to the social and academic systems of the institution. Some researchers believe that extra-curricular activities provide opportunities for learners to interact with faculty and staff in an informal manner and also to forge social and academic alliances with peers. Such activities are associated with

increased persistence, thus reducing the probability of early departure (Spady, 1971; Tinto, 1987).

Institutional Integration and Isolation

Although there are opportunities to form personal associations through extra-curricular activities and subcultural groups, some students remain isolated from those around them. Institutional isolation, according to Tinto (1987), is another probable cause of student withdrawal. Institutional isolation occurs when an individual is unable to establish a personal bond strong enough for membership in any of the institution's communities (Tinto, 1987). Because CCAP provides special services to its students, institutional integration in this study relates to the students' perception of the helpfulness of their instructors and the usefulness of services provided by CCAP. A measure of these constructs may help to explain their degree of fit with the institutional environment at RRCC.

A lack of fit between a student and the institution can be attributed to a number of factors which can vary from student to student, as well as the programs offered at the particular institution (Rugg 1982:235). Rugg did a long-itudinal study in which he made a comparison of minorities and non-minorities at the University of Mississippi in 1977,

and found that the institutional climate for minorities at that university was quite good. The study showed that the institution focused its attention on helping minority students to maintain their academic eligibility. This measure was very important in maintaining persistence because the study noted that even though many minority students were averaging C's, they tended to persist more than non-minority students with similar academic standing. The study suggested that special programs and counseling were associated with increased persistence even though the students' academic scores were average. Thus, the study groups' perception of the services provided by CCAP is important to this study.

In conclusion, academic, social, and institutional integration are three important indicators for understanding persistence/attrition behaviour. student Academic and institutional integration appear to be more vital to student persistence than social integration. The most significant of these indicators is academic integration. The student must satisfy the basic academic requirements of the institution to remain enrolled. Since the role of CCAP is to help the IBA students adjust to college life, the students' perception of those services is used as an indicator institutional integration. The degree to which a student integrates with the campus environment is influenced by the student's disposition.

The student's disposition is in turn a reflection of his/her background characteristics. The background characteristics that are used in this study are discussed in the next section.

BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

The complexity of human behaviour is phenomenal. It is the complex nature of human behaviour that is at the centre of the attrition issue (Garrison, 1987). The degree to which an individual finds congruence with the institutional setting is generally influenced by his/her past experiences and value system. Therefore, in a study of student attrition at the college level it seems appropriate to examine some selected background characteristics. In this section, five background traits are examined; namely, age, sex, marital status, family size, and highest school grade completed.

Age

The average community college student enters the post-secondary system at a later age than senior college students (Voorhees 1987). The entry age of junior college students range from eighteen to over thirty, with a mean age being less than twenty-two.

An applicant seeking entrance to RRCC must be sixteen years of age or older (RRCC admissions application, 1988).

Since IBA students range in age from eighteen to forty-five, with 25, the influence of age a mean age of persistence/withdrawal behaviour was considered as a useful construct as the average age of the IBA students is greater than that of other RRCC students. Τo determine relationship between age and persistence twenty-three years of age was chosen as the point of division between older and younger students. Students between the ages of eighteen and twenty-three years of age are considered as younger: those twenty-four years or more are classified older. The younger or traditional students tend to commence their postsecondary education sometime between the eighteenth and twenty-third birthdate; the majority of whom complete their studies by age twenty-three (Cross 1981). In trying to determine the influence of age on persistence/ withdrawal behaviour, a brief review of some of the literature on intellectual growth and aging is provided.

Chronological age and maturity are not entirely congruent, but years of experience seems to influence maturity. Therefore, when older adults seek academic opportunities in traditional daytime programs, their academic performance equals, and often surpasses, that of younger students (Kasworm 1980:35).

In reviewing the literature on learning deficits and

aging, Kidd noted that prior to E. L. Thorndike findings, it was generally accepted in society that there was rapid intellectual growth up to about age sixteen, followed with continued growth but at a much reduced rate to about age twenty and there after, decline at a moderate but steady rate (Kidd 1973:78).

In 1928 Thorndike conducted a series of experiments with people of various ages to measure their level of intellectual growth. He concluded that intellectual growth progresses rapidly throughout the teens, and thereafter declines at approximately one percent per year until the late forties (McClusky, 1980). Thorndike placed the peak of this growth as occurring between age 16 and 22. Both Kidd's and McClusky's writings indicate that age is not a barrier to learning. Thus, there seems to be an association between academic success and a learner's integration at an institution.

Although age does not appear to negatively influence intellectual growth, it appears to influence persistence/ attrition behaviour. Most studies relating to persistence/ attrition behaviour make reference to age (Astin 1975; Tinto 1975; Pascarella et al. (1986). Age is examined in this study to determine if it has any influence on persistence/attrition behaviour because about half of the students in this study are 24 years of age and older.

Often older students have family responsibilities. Those family obligations can have either a positive or a negative effect on persistence depending on the individual and the circumstance. Many adult students view the opportunity to attend college as a chance to obtain marketable skills that would enable them to provide a better quality of life for their family. Even though the demands of college work maybe in conflict with immediate family responsibilities, some students are able to adequately meet both obligations and persist to On the other hand, there are others who have graduation. expressed the same sentiments about postsecondary training and improved family life, but withdrew prematurely citing family obligations as the cause. These comments are based on the writer's observations of, and conversations with, academically disadvantaged adult students over the past decade.

Sex

This section of the study looks at some of the literature relating to sex to determine if it influences premature departure. The literature is unclear on this issue. Studies conducted in the late 1960's and early 1970's showed that men generally persisted more than women indicating that there may be a relationship between sex and persistence (Astin, 1975; Spady, 1970; Tinto, 1975). They argue that of the students

who departed voluntarily, a greater proportion were women. They suggested that men are more likely to view graduation as being directly related to occupational opportunities, thus the need to persist. Women on the other hand, attend college mainly for intellectual growth (Tinto, 1975:101). One might explain these results in terms of the accepted classification, or stereotyping, of sex roles during that period.

Later studies seem to question seriously, if not negate those earlier findings. Two later studies, one by Bean (1980) and the other by Voorhees (1987) have produced conflicting results. In a study of university students Bean found that sex appear to significantly influence persistence/ did not attrition behaviour. Voorhees, on the other hand studied persistence patterns among community college students and found that females persisted more than males. There does not appear to be conclusive evidence that sex alone significantly influences persistence/attrition behaviour. One possible explanation for Voorhees' findings could be attributed to a shift in societal values of the current decade. career bound women are more readily accepted in society, women are now competing in higher education to improve their job prospects in a way similar to men. combination with other background characteristics influence persistence/attrition behaviour.

Marital Status

Since about half of the students in this study are older adults, some of whom have family commitments, this section of the study is concerned with determining if there is a difference between graduates and non-graduates with respect to marital status. Institutions of higher education in the 1980's are confronted with the task of devising ways of dealing with the needs, expectations and motives of both the younger adult students as well as those of the older learners. The main difference between these two age groups is the commitment of the older learner to the multiple responsibilities of family and employment which are often in competition with the demands of college life.

Entry to college requires that individuals partially separate themselves from past forms of associations and patterns of behaviour. The degree to which adult learners can separate themselves from established family routines and responsibilities may greatly determine persistence/withdrawal behaviour. Allotting time for class attendance, studying, and completing assignments often require changes in parental roles. As a result, a strain in the marital relationship may occur (Huston-Hoburg and Strange, 1986).

Some research suggests that it is more difficult for older adult married women to participate in higher education

than it is for men. Women seemed to receive more emotional support from their friends and peers than from their spouses. Conversely, female spouses seemed to provide more emotional support to their student husbands. The division of household tasks also seemed to continue along traditional lines. Women while studying, continue to have greater responsibility for child care, cooking, and other household tasks than men (Huston-Hoburg and Strange, 1986).

A study of non-traditional students who attended the University of Manitoba found that the majority of the learners felt that their family life was challenged. About 47 percent or 9 of 19 students felt that going to school had a negative effect on their spousal relationship. It was also noted that when the spouse was a male without postsecondary training, the personal growth of the female learner often seemed to threaten the spouse (Degen, 1985:11).

For most married CCAP learners, higher educational opportunity does not require only changes in family routine, it means relocating from a rural or remote community to an urban setting. For any family, but especially a family headed by a single parent -usually a female- the adjustment is most profound. It requires locating baby sitters, registering children at school, learning the bus routes, as well as their new surroundings while grappling with school work.

Family Size

As half of the study group has children it is important to determine if family size has any effect on persistence. Family size, like other individual characteristics should not be a significant indicator of persistence/attrition behaviour. However, when considered with other factors, family size may be influential in the decision to participate or to withdraw. For example, in some situations the number of children in a family may prevent a learner from participating in study groups especially if the group meets outside of school hours. In such a situation a person with two or three children may find it difficult to locate someone who is willing to look after the children. The same may be said for other social activities. If a learner is unable to attend social functions or participate in study groups a sense of isolation may ensue.

A feeling of isolation may contribute to premature departure. Conversely, if the opposite occurs then the possibility of persistence may be enhanced.

Pre-college Education

Most of the major studies on attrition have devoted some discussion to the students' academic accomplishments prior to enrollment in the post secondary system (Spady, 1971; Tinto, 1975; Koodoo, 1982). As many of the students in this study

did not complete high school it seems even more important to determine if there is an association between the amount of schooling these students acquired prior to enrollment in the IBA course and their level of persistence. Current research does not clearly indicate a direct link between pre-college educational level and persistence. In Tinto's model, academic performance in grade school, which was measured by grade point average or class rank, was viewed as an important indicator of future academic performance in college (Spady, 1971; Tinto, 1975). Tinto noted that the individual's ability to do college work was nearly twice as important in accounting for early departure as was social status (Tinto, 1975:100-2).

In conclusion, the reviewed literature on background characteristics indicates that cumulative background traits may indicate an associate with persistence/attrition behaviour. But due of the complexity of human behaviour, neither a student's age, sex, marital status, size of family, or prior educational accomplishment examined in isolation may not be able to show an association with persistence/attrition behaviour.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

This chapter provides a profile of the subjects, the instrument used, and the manner in which the data were collected. An analysis of the responses as well as a brief statement about the non-respondents are provided. Finally, descriptive and inferential statistics are used to analyze the data to determine if there are differences between graduates and non-graduates of the IBA program.

SUBJECTS

This study is concerned with a group of adult learners who enrolled in a pilot project known as the Integrated Business Administrated program in 1984 and 1985 at Red River Community College, Winnipeg, Manitoba; and were either supported by, or attached to, the Community College ACCESS Program. The total enrolment for the two intake periods is 43; 24 females and 19 males.

Of the 43 who enrolled, 22 entered in 1984 -11 men and 11 women. In the following year 21 students enrolled in the program -eight men and 13 women. These data are presented in Table 1.

TABLE 1
TOTAL ENROLLMENT BY YEAR AND SEX

	1 9 8 4		1 9 8 5		Total 84/85	
	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent
Male	11	50	8	38	19	4 4
Female	11	50	13	62	24	56
Total	22	100	21	100	43	100

At the time the data for this study was collected -Fall, 1988- student records indicate that the status of the 43 enrollees is as follows: 17 graduated, three interrupted their studies, three transferred to other disciplines and the

TABLE 2
STATUS OF ALL ENROLLEES AS REPORTED AT TIME OF STUDY

	1 9 8 4		1 9 8 5		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Total
Graduates	4	5	2	6	17
Stopouts	0	1	1	1	3
Transferred	0	0	1	2	3
Non-graduates	7	5	4	4	20
	11	11	8	13	
Total	22		21		43

remaining 20 are classified as non-graduates. This information is summarized in Table 2.

Two main classifications of the subjects are used in this study: graduates and non-graduates. To do this those who were referred to in Table 2 as 'stopouts and transferred' are excluded from the main data analysis because they cannot be considered as either a dropout or as a graduate. Because they represent a special type of dropout they are discussed under a separate heading in Part 3 of chapter 4.

The Instrument

Drawing from the work of Astin (1975), Tinto (1975), Koodoo (1984), and Voorhees (1987) a 34 item questionnaire was constructed by the researcher.

The questionnaire was divided into four main sections: academic, social, and institutional integration plus background characteristics. Questions designed to measure academic integration included such items as whether or not the subjects graduated, how satisfied they were with the grades assigned, and their perception of their intellectual growth. Also included in the academic index are data from student records relating to highest school grade completed and college grade point average. The social integration index examined information about academically social and purely

social activities. The former is a measure of how often students discussed or worked on academic assignments in study The latter relates to the respondents involvement in groups. purely social activities pertaining to college life. Also, the students' perception of the friendliness of their peers is considered. These three sets of data are combined to give overall social integration measure. Institutional the integration variables analyzed the learners' perception regarding the helpfulness of their instructors, and the usefulness of the services offered by The Community College ACCESS Program. Background characteristics includes such variables as age, sex, marital status, family size, pre-college grade completion.

The instrument used to collect the data is in Appendix B. The letter which accompanied the instrument is in Appendix A. and the follow-up letter is in Appendix C.

Pilot Testing of the Questionnaire

The instrument was pilot tested among four current IBA students, two instructors and an administrator. The students were asked to determine the clarity of the questions, the time it took to complete the questionnaire, and to identify any questions by which they felt threatened. The instructors and the administrator evaluated the instrument in terms of its

adequacy to obtain the information needed for the study (i.e. were there ambiguous questions, should there be other responses).

Procedure Relating To Data Collection

Since this study involved human subjects the the approval of the Faculty of Education Ethics Committee was sought prior to any data collection. While awaiting that approval, this researcher telephoned all the former students who were still living in Winnipeg to alert them of the planned study and to solicit their participation. It became evident from the telephone survey that locating some students would be difficult as several of them had changed their addresses since their association with the IBA program. Attempts were made to locate them by networking among other students. The effort was fruitful, but not totally so: it was impossible to locate three of the students.

The approval of the ethics committee was obtained in late September 1988. On September 30, a total of 40 questionnaires was mailed.

A letter explaining the purpose of the study was affixed to the questionnaire. It asked the subjects to complete and return the instrument by October 14, 1988, in the stamped self-addressed envelope. Also, a postage paid postcard on

which the subjects were to indicate if they would like a copy of the survey results was included. The post card with a return address was to be mailed under separate cover.

Response Rate

By the end of the first deadline (October 14, 1988) fifteen completed questionnaires (eight graduates and seven non-graduates) and two uncompleted ones stamped address unknown (one graduate and one non-graduate) were returned.

The twenty-three students who had not responded by the first deadline were sent another questionnaire package on November 1, 1988 with a letter encouraging them to complete and return the instrument by November 16, 1988. Again, stamped self-addressed envelopes were provided.

By November 17, thirteen more completed surveys were returned, five from graduates and eight from non-graduates.

During the third week of November eight telephone calls were made to non-respondents urging them to complete and return the survey material. No further attempts were made to contact non-respondents after November 25, 1988, but the last completed instrument was received on December 6, 1988. By this date four more completed instruments were received (one graduate and three non-graduates. Table 3 provides a summary of the response rate.

A response rate of 80 percent was realized. This is a high response rate especially considering the geography and life style of the many subjects.

TABLE 3

RESPONSE RATE FOR IBA GRADUATES AND NON-GRADUATES

	Number Sent	Number not located	Number returned	Response rate for located students
Graduates	17	1	14	87.5 %
Non-graduates	25	1	18	75.0 %
Total	42	2	32	80.0 %

Many of the students who have returned to their families are living in isolated communities. The communities to which some of them have returned have no all weather roads. The mail has to be flown in. As a result, mail service is limited to once or twice a week. Also, some of them depend on fishing and trapping for their livelihood. For example, when telephone contact was established with the communities of two students, it was learnt that they were on the trapline and were not expected back home until three weeks hence.

Non-respondents

There were eight non-respondents to this survey when the two unopened questionnaire packages are included, -three graduates and five non-graduates. Although this is only a difference of two between the groups, the result tends to be consistent with the findings of previous studies. For example, Koodoo (1982:66), noted that non-graduates are more likely to be unhappy with their college experience. Thus, they are more likely to treat a request to complete a survey as another intrusion into their lives which must be resisted.

Data Treatment

The data from the questionnaire was coded and entered on a master sheet. The design of the master sheet reflected the questionnaire layout. An ascending order ciphering system was used to code the question responses to the master sheet. In other words, "strongly disagree" the lowest possible response was coded 1 while "strongly agree" the highest possible response was 4 with "disagree" and "agree" being assigned 2 and 3 respectively.

Two types of data treatment were done; significant tests and percentages. The data for each element of the integration indexes were divided into two groups -graduates and non-graduates. Then the mean and standard deviation were found.

Null and alternate hypotheses were determined and a one-tail test of the means of the two populations (graduates and non-graduates) at the 95 percent confidents interval was done to find the actual difference between the means. The critical value for 't' was found from a set of statistical tables. The critical value was used to determine if a difference exist. When the calculated value is greater than the critical value a difference between the groups was said to exist. On the other hand, when the critical value is greater than the calculated value, no difference exist.

Percentages were used in analysing the data relating to background characteristics. All calculations were done using a pocket calculator with a statistical mode. The tabulated results can be found in tables 4 through 14.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS: PART ONE

Introduction

This chapter provides a discussion of the collected data and the findings of the study. It is concerned with a comparative analysis of the integration patterns of graduates and non-graduates who participated in a pilot project which was aimed at providing postsecondary training to academically disadvantaged adults. The focus of this chapter is to identify and discuss any differences that exist between graduates and non-graduates in terms of academic, social and institutional integration. The second part of the chapter examines the background characteristics of the students and tries to determine what effect, if any, those background traits appear to have on persistence/attrition behaviour. The third and final part of the chapter is devoted to two special types of premature departures.

Academic Integration

This section is concerned with determining if any differences appear to exist between graduates and non-graduates in terms of academic integration. Eight measures of

academic integration are presented in this index. The first three measures of the index are constructed from the students' responses to four questionnaire items (Questions 1.2 to 1.5) dealing with their perception of their academic performance in the program. Because some earlier studies suggest that there is a relationship between persistence and a student's level of academic preparation (Spady, 1971; Tinto, 1975), grade school completion data which were obtained from student records have been included in this index. Another item used in this index that was obtained from student records is GPA scores. Since people vary in their adjustment to new situations, it seemed prudent to consider two sets of first year GPA scores. from the end of the first and third trimesters of the program This index is used to determine if there are were chosen. differences between graduates and non-graduates and to see if those differences were associated with persistence/attrition behaviour. Before the index is analysed, an explanation of its construction is given.

The academic integration index is a composite of four questionnaire items, two GPA scores and the highest school grade completed prior to enrolment in the IBA course. The questionnaire items used a four point Likert scale response category. The lowest possible score on the index is 4 and the highest is 16. The actual range of reported scores was from 6

to 16. The lowest possible GPA scores is zero and the highest is 4. The actual GPA scores at the end of the first trimester ranged from 0.71 to 4.00; the first year GPA scores ranged from 1.00 to 4.00. The lowest school grade completed prior to enrolment in the IBA course was grade 6 and the highest grade 12. (See Table 4)

The first three calculations in Table 5 deal with academic integration; each has a different mean for the non-graduates. In the first calculation all respondent scores were included. For this calculation the transferees and the stopouts were considered as dropouts. In the second calculation the transferees were excluded, and for the third calculation both transferees and stopouts were excluded.

The transferees -students who had left the program to work in other disciplines- and stopouts -students who withdrew from the program but returned by the time the survey was donewere included in the first two calculations to see what effect they would have on the test result. Since the transferees and stopouts has average to high levels of integration, their inclusion in the calculations tended to skew the results. As these students have continued with their training they represent a unique kind of dropout and were therefore excluded from other calculations and considered separately later in the chapter.

TABLE 4

GRADUATES AND NON-GRADUATES ENTRY GRADE LEVEL AND

GPA SCORES FOR FIRST TRIMESTER AND FIRST YEAR

	Graduate	s	 	 Non-graduate	 es
Grade	GPA S	cores	Grade	GPA S	Gcores
Level	Trimester One	Trimester Three	Level	Trimester One	Trimester Three
10	3.64	4.00	11	2.57	1.00
10	3.57	3.75	12	2.14	2.67
11	1.86	3.67	10	2.50	
9	3.86	3.80	11	0.71	
12	2.43	2.67	7	1.57	3.17
10	2.14	2.40	11	1.00	2.00
12	4.00	3.90	10	2.00	1.00
12	4.00	3.65	12	1.14	2.50
8	3.71	3.75	9	3.29	2.00
10	3.50	3.10	9	2 71	1.25
11	3.50	2.60	9	3.64	3.55
12	1.29	2.33	12	1.86	2.15
11	3.57	4.00	1	!	
6	1.57	2.17	: ! !	1	

The fourth and fifth calculations reflect the respondents scores to questionnaire items (Question 1.2 and 1.4) regarding satisfaction with grades received, and perceived intellectual growth respectively.

Academic Integration Index

When the transferees and stopouts are excluded from the cumulative academic integration index a difference of t=4.226 was observed to exist between the graduates and non-graduates (Table 5). Also, when the constructs are examined separately, difference were found to exist in areas dealing with trimester three GPA scores, perceived intellectual growth, satisfaction with grades received, and first trimester GPA scores'. No difference was found to exist in terms of the 'highest school grade completed' prior to enrolment in the IBA program.

An analysis of Table 5 shows that of the eight constructs used to test academic integration, the greatest difference t=5.38 between graduates and non-graduates was recorded when both the transferees and the stopouts were included in the calculations.

A further analysis of the responses indicated that the three transferees all had average to above average academic scores. These students represent a unique category of non-graduate and were excluded from any further integration

indexes and are considered separately later in the chapter.

The next highest difference t=4.981 was observed when the stopouts were excluded. Since the three stopouts continued with their postsecondary education at a later date, they also are a special kind of dropout and are addressed later in the chapter.

When the stopouts and transferees were excluded from the calculations, a new mean, and standard deviation for non-graduates were found to be 9.42 and 2.46 respectively. These data showed a mild drop in the difference t=4.22 between the two groups.

Of the other constructs, trimester three GPA scores revealed a difference of t=3.68, followed by perceived intellectual growth t=3.59, and satisfaction with grades received t=3.443.

These results are consistent with Spady's (1971) finding which showed that when there is positive interaction between the individual student and the particular college environment, there is a strong possibility for integration with the academic system at the college to occur. Tinto (1987) echos a similar refrain. He argued that when there is a lack of academic 'fit' between the individual and the institution withdrawal will occur.

TABLE 5
ACADEMIC INTEGRATION INDEX

CONSTRUCTS	Gra	aduates	 	Grad	Non- duates		Signific	ant
	×	Sd	 Z 	l E E	ps	Z	Critical	Actual Value
Academic Integration All Respondents	13.5	1.5	14	9.78	2.2	# 8 U	1.7	5.3
Academic Integration with Transferees Removed	3	•		1 &	1		1.703	1 6.
Academic Integration with Transferees and Stopouts Removed	13.5	1.5	14	9.42	4.	1.12	1.711	4.226
ith Grade Recei	3.14	0.64	7 7	2.17	0.80	12	1.711	3.443
Perceived Inte	3.57	0.50	14	2.83	0.55	12	1.711	3.59
Grade Com	10.3	1.67	14	0001:	1.41	1.22	1.711	0.49
GPA at End of First Trimester	3.05	0.93	14	2.09	0.86	132	1.711	2.72
GPA at End of Third Trimester	3.27	0.67	14	2.19	0.76	12	1.711	3.68
			!!!!!		4	1		

Perception of Grades Received and Intellectual Growth

Tinto (1975) identified two distinct types of academic integration: the grades awarded by the institution and the student's perception of his/her intellectual growth (Questions 1.2 and 1.4). These data were analysed separately and the results appear as the fourth and fifth constructs of the academic index. Each of these questions had a possible range of scores of 1 to 4.

With regards to question 1.2 '...I was satisfied with my performance in the course', four graduates strongly agreed, eight agreed and two disagreed. In terms of non-graduates, one strongly agreed, eight disagreed, and three strongly disagreed with the statement. A significant test revealed a difference between the two populations of t=3.44. This test confirmed that which seemed obvious, that the graduates integrated better than the non-graduates with the academic standards established at RRCC.

When the data for question 1.4 '...I was satisfied with my intellectual growth...' was separately analyzed, it showed a slight increase in the difference t=3.59 between the two groups. The graduates' actual scores for this question were 3 and 4; (agree and strongly agree). Six agreed and eight indicated strong agreement with the statement. On the other hand, one non-graduates strongly agreed, eight agreed, three

disagreed.

Although the cells are small, the results indicate differences between graduates and non-graduates in terms of academic performance in the course and perceived intellectual growth. The results for the non-graduates did not appear to support Tinto's (1975) finding that perceived intellectual growth has a positive effect on persistence. The majority of non-graduates agreed with the statement about their intellectual growth yet did not persist. This seems to indicate that perceived satisfaction with intellectual growth does not consistently influence academically disadvantaged adults to persist.

Highest School Grade Completed

Both Spady (1971) and Tinto (1975) argued that the student's inability to meet the academic standards at the college often results in early departure. Yet they pointed out that grade school academic achievement is not a constant predictor of persistence. To determine the influence of grade achievements on persistence/attrition behaviour, the highest level of formal schooling completed by the respondents were examined. When the data was analyzed no difference was found to exist between the groups t=0.49.

A closer examination of Table 4 shows that four

graduates and three non-graduates had grade twelve standing, three graduates and three non-graduates had completed grade eleven, four graduates and two non-graduates had grade ten standing, three graduates and four non-graduates had less than a grade ten standing.

The result is consistent with Tinto's finding cited at the beginning of this section.

As 10 of the 14 graduates (71 percent) could not gain admission to the normal Business Administration course at RRCC due to academic entrance requirements, these results show that integration programs have played a special role in the postsecondary education system, especially for academically disadvantaged adults who are prepared to work towards integrating with the academic standards established at the institution.

Because some students successfully completed the IBA course with less than a grade 12 education, this seems to suggest that other factors which were not considered in this study may have influenced persistence. Whatever influenced their persistence seems to have affected their level of academic performance because all of the graduates performed above the minimum GPA level of 2.00 required for graduating.

Grade Point Average as an Index of Academic Integration

Another measure associated with academic integration is GPA. Spady (1970) identified grades as being the most tangible award the college can grant to a student for participating in the college's principal activity. For a student to maintain enrollment status, (s)he must perform at a level that is equal to, or better than, the minimum standard established at the institution.

Two examinations of GPA performance are provided, the intent of which is to provide an indication of the how well the students integrated with the academic requirements at RRCC. The first measure focuses on how the students' were performing by the end of the first trimester in the course, and the second measure shows their performance at the end of the third trimester of the program.

Since people adjust to new circumstances at different rates, the author felt that these two periods would offer a realistic view of the students' integration with the academic standards of the college.

At RRCC the minimum GPA a student must obtain to continue enrollment is 1.00. A GPA of 1.00 is considered to be marginal, 2.00 is average, 3.00 is good and 4.00 is excellent.

Grade Point Average at the End of the First Trimester

Using grade point average (GPA) as a measure of the respondent's academic integration with the established system at RRCC, Table 5 show that at the end of the first trimester graduates had out performed non-graduates. The former had a GPA mean of 3.05 with a standard deviation of 0.67 while the later's mean and standard deviation were 2.09 and 0.86 respectively. These data revealed a difference between the two groups of t=2.72.

GPA data obtained from student records and summarized in Table 4 show that the graduates' GPA scores at the end of the first trimester ranged from 1.57 to 4.00 and non-graduates scores ranged from 0.71 to 3.64. The graduate with the GPA of 1.57 had completed grade 6 before entering the course. The two graduates with 4.00 GPA scores had completed grade 12. The non-graduate with a 0.71 GPA entered the course with a grade X1 standing while the one with the 3.64 GPA had completed grade 9. Only one student performed below the minimum GPA level of 1.00, and was terminated.

These results are consistent with Pascarella's (1983:94) study which found that secondary school achievement had a significant negative influence on persistence. In other words, although there is a relationship between grade school achievement and academic performance at college, it does not

guarantee persistance.

These results suggest that there are differences between graduates and non-graduates with respect to GPA performances by the end of the first trimester. In other words, graduates on average appear to integrate more strongly with the academic standards established at RRCC than did non-graduates. These results are also consistent with those of Astin's (1975) and (Tinto's 1975) who both found that academic performance prior to college was not a clear predictor of persistence.

Because there are differences in people's adjustment patterns to new situations, those who received low GPA scores in the first trimester might have improved their performance by the end of the third trimester. Thus, an examination of the respondents' GPA at the end of the third trimester is here given.

Grade Point Average at the End of Third Trimester

When the constructs of the academic integration index are examined separately, the greatest difference between graduates and non-graduates t=3.68 was revealed when the end of the first year GPA scores were tested. Table 5 show the mean GPA score for graduates as 3.27 with a standard deviation of 0.67 and the mean for non-graduates as 2.19 with a standard deviation of 0.76.

Table 5 shows that by the end of the third trimester the

lowest GPA score for the graduate group was 2.17, and 1.00 for non-graduates. The highest scores for the two groups were 4.00 and 3.55 respectively. Both groups on average showed stronger patterns of integration, but graduates continued to out perform non-graduates. The table also shows that by this time two more students had withdrawn from the course.

In conclusion, seven of the eight constructs used in the academic integration index show differences between graduates and non-graduates. The greatest difference t=5.38 was observed when the transferees and stopouts were entered as non-graduates.

Of the remaining constructs, the greatest difference was found to occur when all survey data relating to perceived academic integration were grouped. When the constructs are analyzed separately, the highest difference was found to exist with academic performance at the end of the third trimester. 'Perceived intellectual growth' and 'satisfaction with grades received' showed the second and third greatest difference between graduates and non-graduates.

The GPA data showed that although both groups increased their level of integration by the end of the third trimester, graduates showed the greatest increase.

No difference was found to exist when highest school grade completed was considered. This result seems to indicate

that factors other than schooling may have had some influence on persistence.

These results were based on a small population, but are consistent with the findings of other studies that used large samples. It seems reasonable to infer that these results are reflective of academic integration patterns among academically disadvantaged adults at the community college level.

Finally, in a discourse on student retention and the role of institutions in dealing with the matter, Tinto (1987) noted that there are no magic formulas to this issue: "a concern for the education of students, and their integration as full members in the social and intellectual life of the institution appear to be the two most important principles of successful retention programs" (Tinto 1987:187).

Social Integration Index

The literature relating to social integration has focused on students in postsecondary institutions with residences. In residential institutions, the degree to which students interact is viewed as being essential to social integration. Since the institution which the students in this study attended is non-residential, social integration of the same magnitude might not be expected to be as significant a factor in relation to student persistence as they went to

their respective homes each evening after classes.

Tinto (1975) identified social integration as being multidimensional. That is, the students' level of social integration is dependent on their goal (Tinto, 1975:106). Spady (1971) found that persistence is directly associated with the individual's perception of his/her 'social fit'. Spady went on to argue that once the person's perception of social congruence is taken into account, 'social fit' is relatively unimportant in explaining withdrawal behaviour because friendships can most often be established in socially deviant groups on campus, or off campus. In other words, the probability of premature departure due to incongruence with the dominant social group on campus is remote because friendship may be possible within a smaller group.

In an attempt to determine the level of social integration the students in this study perceived existed while they attended RRCC, four measures of social integration were examined (Table 6). An explanation regarding the construction of the index is provided.

A general social integration index was derived from a combination of the questionnaire items (Questions 2.1 to 2.8; 3.1, 3.2, and 3.7) relating to whether or not students worked on academic assignments in groups, discussed academic matters with instructors in semi-formal settings, the level of student

interaction with peers for purely social reasons, and perception of their peer's friendliness. The purpose of this index was to determine if there were differences between graduates and non-graduates regarding these items.

The lowest score possible on this composite index was 11 and the highest 53. The reported scores ranged from a low of 22 to a high of 44.

The first calculation in Table 6, 'general social integration' consists of all the questionnaire data relating to this topic. The other three items are sub-sections of the first.

When the three sub-sections are separately analyzed, two of them -academic social activities and purely social activities- show difference between graduates and non-graduates. However, no difference was found to exist between the groups regarding 'friendliness of peers'.

Academic Social Activities

This index was designed to measure differences between graduates and non-graduates regarding the effect of working with their peers and of discussing academic matters with their instructors in informal settings. There were four questions relating to this matter (Questionnaire items 2.1 to 2.4). Two dealt with the students' participation in informal study

groups and the other related to the number of times students discussed academic matters with instructors. There were five possible responses ranging from never to very regularly. The lowest possible score for this index is 4 and the highest is 20. The actual scores for the academic social index ranged from 7 to 20.

An analysis of Table 6 shows the greatest difference t=3.69 existed in academic social activities. In other words, graduates appear to work in study groups and/or discussed academic matters with their instructors outside the classroom more often than did non-graduates.

The calculated mean for graduates is 15.3 with a standard deviation of 2.28, and 11.8 and 2.55 respectively for non-graduates. The lowest and highest graduates' responses in this category were 12 and 20 respectively. Non-graduate responses were 7 and 16. Although these scores are high for both groups, the graduates' scores are much higher than those of non-graduates indicating greater participation in these activities.

When the data were analysed further 8 of the 14 graduates scored above the mean while only 3 non-graduates did so. This result suggests that good students participated in these activities more than other students. Tinto (1987) suggested that participation in such extra-curricular academic

TABLE 6

SOCIAL INTEGRATION INDEX

CONSTRUCTS	Gra	Graduates N=14	Grad	Non- Graduates N=12	Significant Test Critical
	X	Sq	W	Sd	Value = 1.711
General Social	35.86	4.45	29.3	4.40	3.77
ic Social A	15.3	2.28	11.8	2.55	3.69
Purely Social	10.0	3,12	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	89 9	1.98
Friendliness of Peers	10.14	1.25	9.6	1.26	1.13

activities, besides the obvious academic benefit may help social integration.

This result may be of interest to counselors. In counseling students who are experiencing difficult with grasping certain comcepts, counselors could suggest that students try working on assignments in small groups.

Purely Social Activities

This index was designed to provide an indication of the respondents participation in the purely social activities available to IBA students, and to determine any difference that may exist between the two groups. The index was derived from four questionnaire responses (Questions 2.5 to 2.8). Two questions dealt with self/peer initiated activities, one dealt with student's participation in activities organized by the social club, and the other was meant to provide an indication of the students involvement in the social activities organized by the student council.

There was a mild difference t=1.98 between the graduates and the non-graduates in terms of purely social activities. A closer look at the results show that a standard deviation of 3.12 for graduates was found. This suggests that for some of them, purely social activities were not important.

The minimum and maximum possible scores on this index are

4 and 20 respectively. Five possible responses ranging from 'never' to 'very regularly' were provided. The actual scores ranged from 5 to 17. These scores varied widely. For graduates they ranged from 5 to 17 and from 5 to 11 for non-graduates.

A closer analysis of the data showed that 6 of the graduates scored above the mean, indicating strong social congruence. Three had mean scores, suggesting average integration. Five scored below the mean. This seems to be indicative of social incongruence.

This result is consistent with both Spady's (1971) and Tinto's (1975) findings. Both found that social integration is not absolutely necessary for persistence to occur.

When a similar examination was done for non-graduates it showed that only 3 of them had scores above the mean. This indicates that 9 of the 12 non-graduates did not participate in purely social activities often.

These results suggest that most graduates participated in social activities often. On the other hand, many of them did not, neither did the majority of non-graduates. The regular social activities of the graduates appear to support Tinto's (1987) argument that students who worked on assignment in groups tended to integrate socially.

Since most graduates appear to integrate socially (8 of

14), and the other 6 did not, this result is consistent with Spady's contention that 'social fit' is a relatively unimportant factor in persistence/ attrition behaviour.

Friendliness of Peers

The last construct of the social integration index was comprised of three questionnaire responses (Questions 3.1, 3.2 and 3.7. The data revealed no difference t=1.13 between graduates and non-graduates.

The lowest and highest possible scores for this measure were 3 and 13. The actual scores for graduates were 9 and 12 respectively, while 8 and 12 were reported by non-graduates.

All the analyzed data -actual scores, means, and standard deviations- showed no difference between the groups.

In summary, three of the four measures used in the social integration index showed differences between graduates and non-graduates. The greatest difference was revealed in the general social index. Of the three sub-elements used in the index, the greatest difference between the two groups was found to exist in academic social activities. Graduates worked on assignments in study groups, and discussed academic concerns with their instructors more often than non-graduates. There was evidence of a moderate difference between the groups in purely social activities. But since slightly less than half

of the graduates did not often participate in purely social activities, there does not appear to be a consistent relationship between social integration and persistence. However, there was no difference between the groups regarding friendliness of peers.

These results seem to indicate that social integration as it relates to persistence depends on the individual. Some graduates indicated a high level of integration while others did not. This may be due to individual traits or to the non-residential nature of the community college.

The results support the findings of Spady (1971), Tinto (1975 & 1987) and Pascarella, et al. (1983). They all argue that social integration although useful when it exist is not necessary for persistence to occur. More specifically, Spady noted that it is the student's perception of social integration that is most directly associated with persistence. Tinto (1987) argued that the student's decision to persist in a college program is also affected by his/her perceived level of integration with the social system of the institution.

Tinto emphasized that social integration as it relates to persistence does not infer total, or even wide ranging, congruence with the dominant college environment as much as it relates to growth through friendship associations, or to

some degree of congruence with another social group at or outside the college.

Institutional Integration

Persistence in college according to Tinto (1975) must be understood as a series of interactions between the individual and the institution -peers, instructors and administration- in which (s)he is enrolled. The absence of integration, he argued, appears to have two sources: incongruence and isolation. Incongruence occurs when students perceive themselves as being at substantial odds with the institution. Isolation occurs from an inadequate amount of interaction (Tinto, 1987:53).

One of the functions of intervention programs is to help reduce the level of isolation students experience at college by offering a variety of services including counseling and liaison between students, instructors, and administrators. These services are especially useful to students who are native, or are from rural communities.

The Community College ACCESS Program provides important services such as counseling and tutorial services to help students adjust to their new environment. As some native students are unaccustomed to large institutions they appear to benefit from the personal contact they are able to make with

the program's staff. The program also provides assistance with relocation, budgeting, assertiveness training, and tutorials. Where necessary, services are provided on an individual basis or in groups.

In a study of students' use of university facilities, Churchill and Iwai (1981) found that dropouts used campus facilities -counselors, library and other informational services- the least of all student groups. They also noted that academically marginal students who used the instructional and counseling services tended to persist. Rugg (1982) found that when low academic achievers used campus services the dropout rate among them was 10 percent as compared with 30 percent for those who did not seek help.

Since such services appear to be essential, especially for marginal students, some indication of the students' perception regarding the services provided by CCAP seems appropriate.

Institutional Integration Index

The purpose of this index was to determine the students' perception regarding the helpfulness of their instructors and the usefulness of the services offered by CCAP. They are three items in this integration index. The general index is a composite of data drawn from questionnaire items (Question 3.3)

to 3.6). That data was then divided to form the two sub-elements of the index.

No difference was found to exist between graduates and non-graduates in terms of the helpfulness of their instructors or with the services provided by CCAP.

In this section of the questionnaire respondents were provided with four options ranging from 'very unhelpful to very helpful'. The responses were coded as follows: very unhelpful 1, unhelpful 2, helpful 3 and very helpful 4.

General Institutional Integration Index

An analysis of the general institutional integration index (Table 7) shows the mean and standard deviation for graduates as 13.57 and 1.4 respectively. The corresponding data for non-graduates are 12.17 and 1.86 respectively. The scores for both groups are relatively high. When these data were analyzed a moderate difference between the two groups was found.

The lowest possible score for this index was 4 and the highest 16. The lowest score recorded by graduates was 12 and the highest 16. The corresponding scores for non-graduates were 9 and 16 respectively. These data seem to indicate a high degree of institution integration. In other words, most students found their instructors to be helpful.

TABLE 7
INSTITUTIONAL INTEGRATION INDEX

	Graduates	e s	Gradu	Non- Graduates	
CONSTRUCTS] 3	7	Crit ue ==
	W	sd.	. М	S d	। त
General Institution Integration	13.57	1.4	12.17	1.86	2.19
Helpfulness of Instructors	6.71	1.09	6.17	6.17	1.36
Perceived Usefulness of CCAP Services	6.79	0.77	0.77 6.00	1.58	1.66

This result is consistent with the findings of both Churchill and Iwai (1981), and Rugg (1982). Those findings were cited in the introduction of this integration index.

Helpfulness of Instructors

The construct examines the students' perception of the helpfulness of instructors. The measure was comprised of two questionnaire items (Questions 3.3 and 3.4). The lowest and highest possible scores for these questions were 2 and 8 respectively. The range of scores obtained for these two questions were identical for both graduates and non-graduates, the low was 4 and the high was 8.

The difference in mean scores for graduates and non-graduates is only 0.54. A significant test of the mean scores resulted in a value of t=1.36. Since the calculated 't' value is less than the critical value (See Table 7), there is no difference between the two groups. In other words, both the graduates and the non-graduates felt their instructors were helpful.

Preceived Usefulness of CCAP Services

The last construct in Table 7 measures the students' perception of the services provided by The Community College ACCESS Program. Most students reported that the services

offered by CCAP were helpful to very helpful: Two questions were used to collect this data (Questions 3.5 and 3.6). The lowest score possible for this measure was 2 and the highest was 8. The lowest actual score recorded by graduates was 6 and the highest was 8. This produced a mean of 6.79. On the other hand, the scores for non-graduates varied more widely. The lowest score was 2 and the highest was 8. These figures resulted in a mean of 6.00.

A significant test of the means revealed an actual value of 1.66. Thus, there was no difference between graduates and non-graduates regarding the usefulness of the services provided by CCAP. Since the majority of respondents (24 out of 26) found the counseling and administrative services to be either helpful or very helpful, the students appear to be expressing congruence with the services provided.

This result is important to those concerned with providing similar services to students, especially natives. Many native students have not been very successful in the education system. Many of them have tried to pursue postsecondary training through the normal route, or as mature students but they soon became frustrated and dropped out (Metelski 1982). By providing counseling, administrative, tutorial and other services, a greater number of native students may persist.

In summary, when the constructs of the institutional integration index were tested separately, no difference was found to exist between the graduates and the non-graduates. However, when the data were combined a moderate difference was detected.

The results indicate that both graduates and non-graduates reported that their instructors were helpful. Most students (24 of 26) indicated that the counseling and administrative services provided by CCAP were helpful.

SUMMARY

This section of the chapter analyzed the data relating to the perceived academic, social, and institutional integration of a group of academically disadvantaged adult students, to determine if differences exist between graduates and non-graduates in any of these areas while the respondents were enrolled in an Integrated Business Administration pilot project at Red River Community College but administered by The Community College ACCESS Program. The section concludes that there were some measurable differences between graduates and non-graduates in terms of academic and social integration, but not in institutional integration.

The findings indicated that in terms of academic integration:

- The greatest difference between the two groups was found to occur in GPA scores at the end of the third trimester in the course t=3.68.
- The second highest difference related to perceived intellectual growth t=3.59.
- The third highest difference was found in satisfaction with grades received t=3.44.
- The fourth difference was found to exist in the GPA scores at the end of the first trimester t=2.72.
- No difference was to exist between the groups regarding the highest school grade completed.

Two differences were found for social integration:

- Graduates did their assignments in groups and discussed academic matters with their instructors more often than non-graduates t=3.69
- Graduates showed stronger social integration than nongraduates t=1.98.
- There was no difference between graduates and nongraduates in terms friendliness of peers t=1.13.

No difference was found to exist between graduates and non-graduates regarding institutional integration.

- Both graduates and non-graduates indicated that their instructors were helpful t=1.36.

- Graduates and non-graduates found the services provided by CCAP to be helpful t=1.66.

In general, these results show that graduates were more able to meet the academic standards at RRCC than did the nongraduates. There was no evidence to indicate that social integration was consistently related to persistence.

DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS: PART TWO BACKGROUND CHARACTERISTICS

Introduction

This is the second of a three part chapter devoted to the discussion and findings of the study. This section is concerned with determining what influence, if any, background characteristics appear to have on students' integration and persistence.

The degree to which students integrate into the academic, social and institutional systems of the institution at which they are enrolled appear to be associated with their background characteristics. According to Tinto (1975), students enter an institution with a variety of background characteristics. It is believed that those background characteristics influence the students' desire to graduate. The strength of that desire is believed to have an important role in determining whether or not students will persist or withdraw.

The purpose of examining background characteristics in this section is to ascertain what effects, if any, those background characteristics appear to have on the persistence/withdrawal behaviour of the students in the IBA course. The background characteristics used in this study are age, sex,

marital status, and family size.

<u>Age</u>

To determine if age is a significant indicator of persistence/withdrawal behaviour, the respondents were divided into two categories: younger and older students. A person who was 23 years of age or less was classified as a younger student. Conversely, an one who was 24 years of age or older was considered as any older student. Since the students in this study ranged in age from 18 years to 45 years, and as the typical college students is between the ages of 18 and 23, twenty-three was chosen as the dividing point to contrast age with persistence.

An analysis of Table 8 shows that the respondents were equally divided according to the designated age categories.

TABLE 8

AGE and PERSISTENCE

Age Academic		ears of or less	_	ears of or more	Total		
Success	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
Graduates	5	38	8	67	13	50	
Non-graduates	9	62	4	33	13	50	
TOTAL	14	100	12	100	26	100	

In other words, 50.0 percent of the students were 23 years of age or younger and 50.0 percent were 24 years of age or older. It is also evident that 62 percent of the graduates were 24 years of age or older, while 31 percent of the non-graduates were older students. The index shows that 69 percent of the non-graduates were under 23 years of age.

This result suggests that there may be a slight relationship between age and persistence. This finding is in keeping with Kidd's (1973) and Mc Clusky's (1981) studies. They both indicated that older people continue to grow intellectually and are more careful in thinking things out, but tend to be slower in finishing an assigned task than younger students.

This result is consistent with Kasworm's (1980) study which found that the academic performance of older students equals, and often surpasses, that of younger adult students.

Sex

The literature relating to sex and persistence is not surprisingly inconclusive. Earlier studies (Spady 1970, Astin 1975, Tinto 1975) indicated that men tended to persist more than women. A study by Voorhees (1987) found that women tended to persist more than men. It is relatively common in western societies to assign certain tasks to children

according to their sex, as a result, certain attitudes are developed. Those attitudes may influences an individual's perception of him/her self and ultimately, the goal of graduating.

To determine if sex had any effect on persistence, sex was plotted against persistence.

Table 9 shows that 38 percent of the respondents were male and 62 percent female. The table also reveals that 57 percent of the graduates were female and 43 percent were male. The greater number of women respondents could be reflective of the selection criteria. Affirmative action programs give selection priority to female candidates, especially single mothers.

TABLE 9
PERSISTENCE BY SEX

1		Graduates		Non-g	raduates	Total		
		No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
1	Male	6	43	4	33	10	38	
1	Female	8	57	8	67	16	62	
 	TOTAL	14	100	12	100	26	100	

Although the number of female respondents who graduated

is greater than that of men, 8 to 6, a greater proportion of the men respondents graduated than women. Six of 10 males (60 percent) and 8 of 16 women, or 50 percent graduated. This data show a 10 percent better retention rate by proportion for men. It is unclear whether sex alone is responsible for this difference.

These results seem to support the findings of both the earlier studies, as well as the later one cited above. The data supports the later study by Voorhees who found that females persisted more than males. This result supports that position in terms of actual numbers, but when percentages are applied to the data, a greater proportion of men were found to persist.

Even though it is unclear that a single variable -sex was the cause of the difference in retention it appears prudent to analyse other single variables such as marital status to see if it too may account for a difference.

Marital Status

Some research indicate that it is more difficult for an adult woman with family responsibilities to successfully participate in postsecondary full time education than it is for men. When most women enroll in full time studies, they continue to be responsible for a greater proportion of child

care, cooking, laundry and other household tasks (Huston-Hobrug and Strange, 1986). Degen (1985) in a study on non-traditional students who participated in a university program, found that 47 percent of the respondents indicated that participation in full time studies strained their family relations.

In this section, an attempt is made to see if marital status has either a positive or a negative effect on persistence for either married or single students.

An analysis of Table 10 shows that 65 percent of the respondents were not married and 35 percent were married. Sixty-four percent of the graduates were single while 36 percent were married. But among the non-graduates, as many as 67 percent were not married. Although these data suggest a slightly lower success rate for single students, the concerns identified in the literature about females experiencing more

TABLE 10
MARITAL STATUS AND PERSISTENCE

Marital Status	Graduates No. Percent		No.	raduates Percent	Total No. Percent		
Single	9	64	8	67	17	65	
Married	5	36	4	33	9	35	
TOTAL	14	100	12	100	26	100	

difficulty than males was not fully addressed. Therefore, males will be excluded from the next analysis and the number of females in the study are plotted against persistence.

Table 11 shows that 82 percent of the females who responded to the questionnaire were not married. Seventy-five percent of the female graduates, on entry to the program were

TABLE 11
FEMALE PERSISTENCE

Marital	Graduates		Non-	graduates	Total		
Status	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
Single	6	75	8	89	14	82	
Married	2	25	1 1 1	11	3	18	
TOTAL	. 8	100	9	100	17	100	

single and 89 percent (14 of 17) of the non-graduates were not married. Only three females were married when they entered the IBA program. Thus, this cell, 3 married females, is too small to draw conclusions.

Many of the single females are parents. Thus, this result does not appear to support the concern in the literature relating to the difficulty that women with family responsibilities who are engaged in full time studies

encounter.

The difference between this result and the literature may be due to the type of supports CCAP provides for students with children -financial assistance with daycare and counseling are among the supports provided.

To test the influence of this result on female student persistence, it seems appropriate at this stage of the study, to consider family size. For the purpose of this study, family size does not refer to a specific number of children in a family household, but to whether or not there were children in the family when the student enrolled in the program.

Family Size

It does not appear that family size alone will seriously influence persistence/withdrawal behaviour. However, if there are many young children in a family, the female student may not be able to participate in study group activities or other extra-curricular activities as readily as the student without child care responsibilities.

Since females are usually responsible for child care and other related tasks, only women, regardless of marital status, will be considered in this analysis. In this examination, female students are divided into two groups: without children and with children, and plotted against academic success. The

results are summarized in Table 12.

An analysis of Table 12 shows that 56 percent of the respondents had no children, and 44 percent had. Seventy-five percent of the non-graduates were childless and 25 percent had children. However, 62 percent of the graduates had children while 38 percent did not have any. According to the questionnaire responses, the average family had between one and three children.

This result appears to suggest that females with children are more committed to graduating and therefore persisted better than those without children.

TABLE 12
FEMALE WITH AND WITHOUT CHILDREN ACCORDING TO PERSISTENCE

	Graduates		Non-	graduates	Total		
	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	No.	Percent	
No children	3	38	6	75	9	56	
Children	5	62	2	25	7	44	
TOTAL	8	100	8	100	16	100	

More women with children graduated than those without. Also, there was a smaller number of women with children among the dropouts.

This result does not show a strong association between family size and persistence because 5 females with children graduated while 3 without did. Conversely, 6 females without children dropped out while only 2 with children did. It seems that females with children have a slightly stronger tendency to persist than those without, but a difference of 2 is too small to say that family size alone has a positive influence on persistence.

There are a number of possible explanations for the high number of younger single women without children withdrawing. One explanation could be that since most of them are under 23 years of age, the need for an education may not be as immediate as is the case with single mothers. Making the adjustment to an urban setting while at the same time adjusting to college life may be too distracting for those without immediate family responsibilities. Thus, they may decide to try other things and return to college at a later date.

Most of the background characteristics have thus far been analyzed independently and the results show that young single females are prone to early departure. It seems appropriate now to combine a number of these background characteristics to determine if they have a more definite association to persistence. The first of these measures is age and sex in

relation to academic success.

To construct a table with age, sex, and academic success, the respondents are divided into two groups according to age as used before.

Analysis of Table 13 shows that the students who tended to depart prematurely were younger, especially females. Of the 12 non-graduate respondents, half of them were younger females but only two older females withdrew. The table also shows that an equal number of younger and older females graduated -4 each. A similar pattern is evident for males only the number is different: 3 instead of 4. There were also 4 younger male students who withdrew prematurely.

These data show that younger students tended to dropout more often than older students.

TABLE 13

AGE, SEX, AND ACADEMIC SUCCESS

Age	23	years	or :	less	2	 4 yea:	To	Total		
Academic	Gr	ads.	ls. N-Grads		G	Grads.		N-Grads.		
Success	# 	% 	 # 	! ! % L	 #	% L	† !#	 %	 #	 ! %
Male	3	30	4	40	3	30	0	0	10	100
Female	4	25	6	38	4	25	2	12	16	100
TOTAL	7	27	10	38	7	27	2	7	26	100

Since half of the non-graduates were younger females (6) and as the majority of graduates are females (8 of 14), the next analysis will consider only females. The purpose of this analysis is to determine if family size and age have any influence on academic success.

In this analysis, females are divided into two groups: those who entered the IBA program with children and those who entered without. The divisions for age and academic success are maintained.

An analysis of the data shows that there was not much difference among the female respondents in terms of having children on entry to the program. Nine of them had children and seven did not. Of the 8 graduates, 5 had children. There 6 females 23 years of age or less that had children, 3 of them graduated and three did not. There were 3 females 24 years of age or older who had children, 2 graduated and 1 did not.

There were 7 females without children, 4 were 23 years of age or less, 1 graduated and 3 did not. Of the 3 older females, 2 graduated and 1 did not.

These cells are too small to offer conclusive results but the data seem to indicate that among the IBA female students there was a mild association with age, motherhood and persistence.

Only females were included in the above analysis because the data indicated that younger female students were departing prematurely. That same data showed that younger male students were the second most likely group to withdraw from the program. Therefore, some attention is now devote to male respondents.

Two analyses were done for male students. The first is a combination of age, marital status and academic success; the other consist of age marital status, family size and academic success. The same analytical procedures that were used for the females are used here.

The data show that there were 10 male respondents. Of these 10, four were single and 6 were married. Six of the 10 males graduated.

With respect to age, 7 males were 23 years of age or less. Three of them graduated, 2 were single and the other was married. Of the 4 who did not graduate, 1 was single and 3 were married. There were 3 older male students, 1 single and 2 married, all of them graduated.

Although the numbers used in this analysis are small, the result is consistent with the findings for the females. They both show that younger students are prone to leave the program prematurely.

In the final examination of background characteristics

and how they relate to persistence of male students, family size is now considered. Hence, age, marital status, academic success and family size are analyzed.

The data show that half the male respondents had children and the other half did not. The majority of the male respondents (7) were younger students. Of that group, 3 graduated, 4 did not. None of the three younger male graduates had children. Of the 4 young male non-graduates, 2 had children and 2 did not. On the other hand, there were 3 older male students all of whom had children and graduated.

Although the cells are quite small, it is very noticeable that all the male non-graduates were younger students. This result is similar to that for females. In other words, younger students in the IBA program tend to discontinue their postsecondary training more so than older ones. These results seem to point to an association between age, family size and persistence.

SUMMARY

The purpose of this section was to analyze background characteristics to determine what influence, if any, they had on persistence. The results show that there is some association between individual background characteristics and persistence. There was also evidence that when background

characteristics are analyzed collectively, they appear to influence persistence/withdrawal behaviour. More specifically, age, and family size is associated with persistence among IBA students.

The results of this section are as follows:

- Age is related to persistence. Older students showed moderately better persistence than younger ones.
- Younger students, especially females without children have the highest pattern of discontinuance, followed by young married males.
- There is evidence that a greater number of females than males persisted, 57 percent for females to 43 percent for males. However, when sex is analyzed in terms of total respondents persistence, 60 percent of males as against 50 percent for females.
- Females with children tended to persist more than those without.

In general, among the IBA students, age was related to persistence. Nine of the 14 graduates were older students. Also, the majority of non-graduate females were younger students. It is difficult to categorically attribute this to age alone. There is some evidence to suggest that family size

positively influenced persistence. Of the 8 female graduates, 5 had children.

DISCUSSION AND FINDINGS: PART THREE TRANSFEREES AND STOPOUTS

This is the third section of a three part chapter devoted to the discussion and findings of the study. This section is devoted to a discussion of Transferees and Stopouts.

Six of the respondents were found to have withdrawn from the IBA program prematurely but continued their postsecondary training. They represent a unique type of dropout. As a consequence, they were excluded from the analyses covered in parts one and two of this chapter. Because this group is too small to to do a detailed statistical analysis, a general description of them and a comparison of their total mean scores are used to indicate their level of academic, social, and institutional integration while they were participants in the IBA program.

Transferees

A total of three respondents transferred to other study programs, two females and one male. They all indicated on the comment section of the questionnaire that when they enrolled in the IBA course they had no vision of what Business Administration was about. Once exposed to the discipline they

soon realized that it was not the type of training they wanted to pursue. Two were younger students, one female the other male; the third person was an older female. Both the older female and the male transferred to social work programs and the other female to a secretarial program.

Stopouts

A total of three respondents were classified as stopouts. Two were younger females, the other an older male. One of the females chose to enter the work force but after fifteen months she became unemployed. It is at this juncture that she re-applied to the IBA course. The other female had a baby and took a year off. The male suffered a medical problem but returned to the program after sixteen months.

Transferees and Stopouts: Integration Patterns

In this section a comparison of integration patterns for this special type of premature departures were done. This comparison was obtained by examining their responses to questionnaire items about academic, social and institution integration. The responses were categorized exactly as those used in parts one of this chapter.

The examination of the data revealed that on average, stopouts showed slightly stronger integration trends than did

transferees.

The examination was done by finding the total mean for each response category for each group. An analysis of Table 14 reveals that the mean scores in each category were less than those of the graduates but higher than those of the nongraduates discussed in part one. In terms of transferees and stopouts, stopouts showed a moderately greater tendency toward academic and social integration than did transferees. Transferees on the other hand, showed a very minutely stronger trend towards institutional integration.

TABLE 14

MEAN INTEGRATION SCORES OF TRANSFEREES AND DROPOUTS

Item	Transferees M	Stopouts M
Academic	9.9	11.0
Social	32.0	36.0
Institution	12.6	11.6

No major conclusion can be drawn from these data, except to note that the slightly higher mean academic and social scores for stopouts may be attributed to the dissatisfaction of the transferees with Business Administration as a possible field of training.

CHAPTER 5 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Summary

The broad purpose of the study was to identify any differences that may exist between graduates and non-graduates in terms of academic, social, and institutional integration. Also, to determine if selective background characteristics appear to influence the persistence/attrition behaviour of a group of academically disadvantaged adult students who were enrolled in an Integrated Business Administration course at the Community College level.

Question la. Academic Integration

- Do graduates and non-graduates differ in terms of academic integration with regards to the grade point average (GPA) received at the end of the first trimester, or at the completion of the first year?

The study indicates that there are observable differences between graduates and non-graduates in GPA scores at the end of the first trimester t=2.72, as well as at the end of the third trimester t=3.68.

Graduates general GPA performance indicated stronger academic integration than non-graduates.

- Are there differences between graduates and nongraduates regarding their perception of their own intellectual growth?

The study indicates that there are differences between graduates and non-graduates regarding how they perceived their intellectual growth t=3.59.

- Would academic accomplishment prior to enrolment in the IBA course contribute to a difference in persistence between graduates and non-graduates?

The study found no evidence to indicate that the highest grade level achieved prior to enrolment in the IBA program is a reliable indicator of persistence $t\!=\!0.49$.

Some students who entered the course with less than a grade X level of education persisted, but there were others who entered with a grade 12 standing and did not persist.

Question 1b. Social Integration

- Is there a difference between graduates and nongraduates in terms of academic social activities such as; working on, or discussing, academic assignments in study groups?

The study indicates that there were differences between graduates and non-graduates in terms of working on, or discussing assignments in study groups t=3.69.

The data indicate that graduates worked on assignments in

study groups more often than non-graduates.

- Are there differences between these two groups of students regarding the amount of time they participated in purely social extra-curricular activities?

The study indicates that there is a moderate difference between the two groups with regard to purely social activities t=1.98.

Although a number of graduates indicated that they did not often participate in purely social activities, they persisted. Social integration did not appear to have a consistent effect on persistence among the IBA students.

- Is there a difference between graduates and nongraduates in terms of friendliness with their peers?

The study indicates that there is no noticeable difference between graduates and non-graduates in their perception of friendliness of their peers t=1.13.

Both groups scored high on this item. The data indicate that there was a high degree of friendliness within the groups.

Question lc. Institutional Integration

- Is there a difference between the two groups of learners regarding their perception of the helpfulness of their instructors, or the usefulness of the services provided by CCAP? The study found no difference between the two groups with regards to those items. Both groups indicated that their instructors were helpful. They also indicated that the services provided by CCAP were useful.

Question 2. Background Characteristics

- How do selected background characteristics such as age, sex, marital status, and family size encourage or inhibit students' integration at the community college level.

The study indicates that there is an association between age, sex and family and the persistence/attrition behaviour of IBA students. The results indicate that older students tended to persist more than younger ones. Most of those who departed prematurely were single females who had no children, followed by young married males.

A greater number of females graduated than males. It should be noted that more females were selected to the project than males. When sex is analyzed in terms of total participants, a greater percentage of males persisted, 60 percent males to 50 percent females.

Family size appear to have a positive association with female persistence. More females with children graduated than those without 5 to 3. Family size did not appear to influence male persistence. Of the six men that graduate three had

children and three did not.

Finally, although Tinto's model was useful in identifying some aspects of academic and social integration, a number of limitations became evident when the model was applied in this study. For eample, the model emphasized a relationship between the students' commitment to the institution and their persistence. Since the supports provided to IBA students by CCAP are directly tied to their participation in the IBA program at RRCC, the students' commitment to graduating from another institution with CCAP's supports was not applicable. Thus, instead of analysing institutional commitment, institutional integration -the students' perception of the usefulness of the services provided by CCAP- was analysized.

Another limitation of Tinto's model that was evident in this study is the model's focus on traditional university students. The students in the IBA program were, in terms of age, a mix of traditional postsecondary students as well as others who had entered college for the first time in their adult years.

Conclusion

This study indicates that the overall graduation rate for the first two intakes combined is 40. Since the stopout and transferees are still pursuing their post secondary training the persistence rate is 48 percent. This is a good graduation/ retention rate considering that approximately half of the group would not have been able to meet the normal academic entrance requirements of the college.

There are observable differences between graduates and non-graduates regarding academic and social integration but not institutional integration. The academic integration index clearly showed that graduates perceived themselves as integrated. They were able to satisfy the minimum standard to maintain registration.

Highest school grade completed is clearly not a reliable indicator of persistence in the IBA program. There were seven graduates who entered the IBA course with a grade 10 standing or less. On the other hand, an equal number of non-graduates entered with a grade 11 or better. This appears to be of significance to those involved in the selection of candidates for integration programs.

Although there were differences between the two groups regarding perceived intellectual growth, many non-graduates indicated that they were satisfied with their intellectual growth but did not persist. This response seems to support the reviewed literature which showed that many of these students have not been socialized to set high educational or employment goals. Perhaps obtaining a diploma is not as important as acquring certain marketable skills.

The design of the IBA program in concert with the other

services provided by CCAP appear to have a positive effect in bridging the gap between the students' native background and the education system which was identified in the literature. This is evident in the graduation rate of 40 percent.

Recommendations About the Study

The recommendations made in this study, although based on the findings of the research reported here are also influenced by the experience of the writer.

- That efforts be made to determine the specific cause(s) of premature departure among younger students, especially single females without children and married males.
- That futur students be made aware of the benefits of working on academic assignment in small study groups.

 This could be done during orientation.
- That ACCESS continue its effort to provide quality services.
- That in selecting academically disadvantaged adults for postsecondcary training, selection committee members should investigate the applicants' history of completed activities in concert with their academic preparedness in determing who should be admitted, rather than on highest grade completed only.
- That efforts be made at the community level to provide

prospective students with more details about courses offered by CCAP as a means of reducing the difficulty experienced by the transferees.

Recommendations for Future Study

The following suggestion for future study should help to provide a better understanding of the persistence/attrition behaviour of academically disadvantaged adult students.

- A future study on the issue of students' persistence/ attrition behaviour should consider interviews with the students. A case study approach may offer more information on the integration of academically disadvantage students into the postsecondary system.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Anisef, Paul. M. Bertrand, U. Horitian and C. E. James, <u>Accessibility to Postsecondary Education in Canada: A</u> <u>Review of the Literature</u> Ottawa: Department of the Secretary of State of Canada, 1985.
- ---- , N. R. Okihiro, and C. E. James, <u>Losers and Winners: The Pursuit of Equality and Social Justice in Higher Education.</u> Toronto: Butterworth Co. 1982.
- Astin, A. W. Preventing Students From Dropping Out San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1975.
- Astin, A. W. Student Persistence: "Some Stay, Some Don't--Why?" College and University 48 (1973): 298-306. (b)
- Bean, J. A. "Dropouts and Turnover: The Synthesis and Test of a Causal Model of Student Attrition." Research in Higher Education 12, No. 2 (1980): 155-187.
- -- -, "Student Attrition, Intentions, and Confidence: Interaction Effects in a Path Model." <u>Research in</u> <u>Higher Education</u> 17, no. 4 (1982): 291-320.
- Bercuson, D. J., R. Bothwell and J. L. Granatstein <u>The Great</u>

 <u>Brain Robbery: Canada'a Universities on the Road to Ruin.</u> Toronto: Mc Clelland and Stewart, 1984.
- Blanc, Robert A. et al., "Breaking The Attrition Cycle."

 Journal of Higher Education, 54, (1983): 80-90.
- Boone, Edgar J. Developing Programs In Adult Education. Englewood Cliffs: Prentice-Hall, 1985.
- Boshier, Roger W. "Educational Participation and Dropout:

 A Theoretical Model." A<u>dult Education</u>, 23 (1973):
 255-282
- ---, "Factor Analysts at Large: A Critical Review of The Motivational Orientation Literature." A<u>dult Education</u>, 27, no. 1 (1976): 24-47.
- Brown, Alan M. "Persistence In University Adult Education Classes." Adult Education Research 16, no. 2 (1966): 101-114.
- Brubacher, John S. On The Philosophy of Higher Education. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1982.

- Brundage, and Mackeracher. <u>Adult Learning Principles and Their Applications to Program Planning.</u> Ontario, Ministry of Education, 1980.
- Campbell, Duncan D. The New Majority: Adult Learners.
 Alberta: University of Alberta Press, 1984.
- Canadian Education Association. <u>Recent Developments in Native Education.</u> Ontario: Canadian Education Association. 1984.
- Cantor, Leonard M. and I. F. Roberts Further Education Today.
 2nd ed., London: Routledge and Paul, 1983.
- Cardinal, H. <u>Rebirth of Canada's Indians.</u> Edmonton: Hurting, 1977
- Carlton, R. A. <u>Education</u>, <u>Change</u>, <u>and Society</u>: <u>A Sociology of Canadian Education</u>. Toronto: Gage Educational 1977.
- Churchill, Willam D. and Standley I. Iwai "College Attrition Student Use of Campus Facilities, And A Consideration of Self Reported Personal Problems." Research In Higher Education 14, no. 4 (1981): 352-365.
- Cohen, Arthur M. et al., College Responses To Community Demands. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1975.
- Conrad, Clifton F. "At the Crossroads: General Education in Community Colleges." Washington D C: Horizons Issues Monograph Series 1983.
- Cross, K. Patrica. <u>Adult As Learners</u>. San Francisco: Jossey .
 Bass, 1981
- ---- , <u>Beyond the Open Doo</u>r. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1971.
- Darkenwald, G. G., and W. J. Gavin, "Dropout As A Function of Discrepancies Between Expectations and Actual Experiences of the Classroom Social Environment."

 Adult Education Quarterly, 37, no. 3 (1987): 152-163.
- Darling, Alexander L. "The Admission of Non-matriculated Adults to University Credit Courses." <u>The Canadian Journal of Higher Learning</u> 15, no. 2 (1985): 91-97.
- Degen, Gene. "A Follow-up Study on Non-Traditional Students Who Have Attempted University Study." <u>Canadian</u>
 <u>Journal of Native Studies</u> 12, no. 3 (1985): 8-14.

- Dugan, Willis E. "Opportunity For All." <u>Issues of The Seventies</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass 1970.
- Garrison, D. R., "Dropout Prediction Within A Broad Psychosocial Context: An Analysis of Boshier's Congruence Model." Adult Education Quarterly, 37, no. 4 (1987): 212-222.
- Getzlaf, Shelly B. et al. "Two Types of Voluntary Undergraduate Attrition: Application of Tinto's Model." Research in Higher Education 20, no. 3 (1984): 257-268.
- Gomme, Ian M. and Sid N. Gilbert, "Paying the Cost: Some Observations on the Problems of Post-secondary Student Attrition." The Canadian Journal of Higher Education 14, no. 3 (1984)
- Gould, S.R., and K.P. Cross (Eds.,) <u>Explorations in Non-traditional Study</u>, San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1972.
- Hawthorn, H. B. ed. A Survey of Contemporary Indians of Canada:

 Economic, Political, Educational Needs and Policies.

 2 vols. Ottawa: Department of Indian Affairs and Nothern Development, 1967.
- Hayman, J. L. Evaluation in Schools: A Human Process for Renewal. Monterey, Calif: Brooks/Cole. 1975
- Huston-Hoburg, Laura, and Carney Strange, "Spouse Support Among Male and Female Returning Adult Students."

 Journal of College Student Personnel 27, no. 5 (1986): 388-393.
- Jashik, Scott. "Major Changes Needed if Colleges Are to Attract More Members of Minority Groups" The Chronicle of Higher Education (November 25, 1987) 1, A 31-32.
- Kasworm, Carol E. "The Older Student As An Undergraduate" Adult Education 31, no. 1 (1980): 30-47.
- Kidd, R. How Adults Learn. Chicago: Follett Publishing, 1973.
- Kirkness, Verna J. <u>Educational Achievement of Indians in Federal and Provincial Schools in Manitoba.</u> M Ed., Thesis, University of Manitoba, 1980.
- Knowles, Malcolm. The Adult Learner: A Neglected Species. 3rd ed., Houston: Gulf Publishing Co. 1984.

- Koodoo, Aaron H. <u>Differences Between Community College Graduates and Non Graduates on Three Dimensions: Demographic Variables, Personal Characteristics and Student Perceptions</u>. M Ed., Thesis, University of Manitoba, 1982.
- Lenning, Oscar T. "Variable Selection And Measurement Concerns." New <u>Dimensions For Institutional Research Studying Student Attrition</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass 1982.
- Mackinon and Anisef, cited in Anisef et al., <u>Is The Die Cast?</u>

 <u>Educational Achievements and Work Distinations of Ontario Youth:</u> Ontario Ministry of College and Universities, 1980
- Mc Clusky, H.Y., "Cognitive Performance and Mental Ability: Implications For Learning," <u>Alternative Higher Education</u> 5 no. 1 (1980):
- Mc Kenzie, B. and K. Mitchinson, <u>Social Work Education For Empowerment: The Manitoba Experience</u>. 1988.
- Metelski, K. Study of The Native Attrition Rate at Assiniboine Community College Including Problem Identification and Recommendations. A Report For the Director of Assiniboine Community College, Brandon Manitoba 1982.
- National Indian Brotherhood. <u>Indian Control of Indian Education: Policy Paper Presented to the Minister of Indian Affairs and Nothern Development.</u> Ottawa: National Indian Brotherhood, 1972.
- Noel, Lee. et al. <u>Increasing Student Retention</u> San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1985.
- Pantages, T. J. and C.F. Creedon, "Studies of College Attrition: 1950-1975." Review of Educational Research. 48, no. 1 (1978): 49-101.
- Pascarella, Earnest T. and Patrick T. Terenzini, "Patterns of Student Faculty Informal Interaction Beyond the Classroom and Voluntary Freshmen Attrition" <u>Journal of Higher Education</u>. 48, no. 5 (1977) 540-552.
- --- "Freshman Persistence And Voluntary Dropout Decisions From A Theoretical Model." Journal of Higher Education. 51, no. 1 (1980): 60-75.

- "Predicting Voluntary Freshman Year Persistence / Withdrawal Behavior In A Residential University: A Path Analytic Validation Of Tinto's Model." Journal of Educational Psychology. 75, no. 2 (1983): 215-226.
- ---- "Pre enrollment Variables And Academic Performance As Predictors of Freshman Year Persistence, Early Withdrawal, And Stopout Behavior In An Urban, Non-residential University." Research In Higher Education 15, no. 4 (1981): 329-349.
- Institution Setting." Sociology of Education 56, (April 1983): 88-100
- ----, "Long-Term Persistence of Two-Year College Students"

 <u>Research in Higher Education</u> 24, no. 1 (1986) 47-71.
- Peitchinis S. <u>Financing Post-secondary Education in Canada</u>.

 Calgary C M E C, (1971)
- Pike, Robert and Elia Zureik, eds., <u>Socialization of Values in Canadian Society.</u> 2 vols. Toronto: Mc Clelland and Stewart, 1975.
- Reed, Jeffrey G. "Dropping A College Course: Factors Influencing Students' Withdrawal Decisions." Journal of Educational Psychology 73, no. 3 (1981): 376-385.
- Round, Carolyn. et al., "Persistence Versus Withdrawal From The College Classroom: A Test of Four Theoretically Derived Propositions." Research in Higher Education 14, no. 3 (1981): 201-210.
- Rugg, A.G., "A Longitudinal Comparison of Minority and Nonminority College Dropouts: Implications For Retention Improvement Programs." The Personnel and Guidance Journal, December, 1982: 232-235.
- Sartoris, P. C. and A. R. Vanderwell, "Student Reasons For Withdrawing From the University of Alberta: 1978-79" Canadian Counselor 15, no. 4 (1981): 168-174.
- Sealy, D. B. and V. Kirkness, eds., <u>Indians Without Tipis:</u>
 <u>A Resource Book for Indiand and Metis.</u> Agincourt: The Book Society of Canada. 1974.
- Spady, Wm. G. "Dropouts From Higher Education: An Interdisciplinary Review and Synthesis." <u>Interchange</u> 1 (1970): 64-85.

- --- "Dropouts From Higher Education: Toward an Emphirical Model." <u>Interchange</u>, 2 (1971): 38-62.
- Statistics Canada <u>Education in Canada A Statistical Review for 1984-85</u> Ottawa: Ministry of Supply and Services Canada, 1986.
- Tinto, V. <u>Leaving College: Rethinking the Causes and Cures of Student Attrition</u> Chicago: University of Chicago Press 1987.
- Synthesis of Recent Research." Review of Educational Research." 45, (1975): 98-125.
- Turrittin, A.H. et al. "Gender Differences in Educational Achievement: A Study of Social Inequality." <u>Canadian Journal of Sociology</u> 20, no. 3 (1983): 393-419.
- Verner, Coolie and George Davis, "Completion And Dropouts: A Review of Research." Adult Education (Spring 1964: 157-76.
- Voorhees, Richard, "Toward Building Models of Community College Persistence: A Logic Analysis." Research in Higher Education 26, no. 2 (1987): 115-129.
- West, Russell and Conrad J Glass Jr. "Motivation And The Non-Traditional Adult Learner." Alternative Higher Education 5, no. 3 (1981): 155-68.

APPENDIX A

Room F 210 RRCC 2055 Notre Dame Ave Winnipeg Hanitoba R3H OJ9 September 30, 1988

Dear

It has been a while since we were in contact. How are you? I hope things are going well for you and your family.

I am conducting a survey of all Integrated Business Administration students who registered for the course in 1984 and 1985. The purpose of this survey is to try to better understand some of the different reasons that either help students to complete the program or cause them to withdraw. As you registered during that period, I would be most obliged if you would complete the enclosed questionnaire. It should take about 15 minutes of your time to complete.

Please return the completed questionnaire in the stamped, self-addressed envelope by October 14, 1988. You do not have to sign the questionnaire.

I am conducting this study as part of the requirements for a Master of Education degree. Even though this survey is not officially connected with the Community College ACCESS Program the results may be used by ACCESS to help provide better service to students in the future.

Although your completion of the questionnaire would be greatly appreciated you are under no obligation to do so.

For the second phase of my study I am hoping to interview some former students regarding how they felt about different aspects of the program. I would greatly appreciate your input in this matter. If you would be willing to be interviewed, please complete the enclosed stamped, self-addressed post card and return it separately from the questionnaire.

If you would like a copy of the results of the survey kindly check the appropriate box on the enclosed post card.

Finally, if you have any questions regarding this survey please do not hesitate to call me at 633-5930. Thank you for your kind co-operation in this endeavor.

Yours truly,

Archie Prescod.

APPENDIX B

A STUDENT SURVEY OF ATTITUDES TOWARDS THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE ACCESS INTEGRATED BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION COURSE

-1988-

Introduction: This questionnaire attempts to survey your attitude towards your participation in the Integrated Business Administration (IBA) course at Red River Community College. It is concern not only with your academic experiences but also the extent to which you find life at the college supportive and worthwhile. To do this I have arranged the questionnaire into five sections that I have called ACADEMIC, SOCIAL, INSTITUTIONAL SETTING AND SERVICES, and a short section on PERSONAL BACKGROUND.

For each statement please a check () under the response that ${\tt BEST}$ indicates your answer to each question.

() Yes

() No

ACADEMIC SATISFACTION: Here are some questions about your grades in the course.

1.1 Did you Graduate?

		Stron Agre		Agree		Disagr	Strongly Disagree		-	
1.2	Generally, I was satisfied with my performance in the course	()	()	()		()
1.3	Generally, the grades I received encouraged me to work towards graduation	()	()	ſ)		()
1.4	Generally, I was satisfied with my intellectual growth while in the course	()	()	()		(,
1.5	For me the courses		,	,)	(1		()

SOCIAL SATISFACTION: Here are some questions about your social activities during the time you were enrolled in the IBA course. Please put a check mark () under the response that BEST indicates your answer.

		Ver: Regi	y ularl	Oft Y	en		Some- times		Occasion- ally		ver
2.1	How often did you work on assignments in a study group?	()	()	()	()	()
2.2	How often did you work informally on assignments with another IBA student:)	()	()	()	()
2.3	How often did you talk about course content with other IBA students?	()	()	C)	()	()
2.4	How often did you discuss course matters with your instructors?	()	()	(,	()	(`)
2.5	How often did you attend the functions of the PUTURES GRAD CLUB?	()	()	()	()	()
2.6	While attending RRCC how often did you attend Student Council Socials?		,	()	(,	()	()
2.7	How often did you socialized with other IBA students?	()	()	ť)	()	()
2.8	How often did you meet informally with ACCESS staff members	? ()	()	()	(,	()

INS	TITUTIONA	L SETTING:	instit	ution	al se	estion tting dents.	and	out the	th e servi	ces
3.1	Looking the gen	back at yo eral studen	ur RRCC t body?	expe	rienc ck ON	e, how E only	/ Wou	ld y	ou đe	scrib
	1. /	/ Most unf	riendly	•	4.	/	Pri	end1;	Y	
	2. /	Very unf	riendly	,	5.	/	Ver	y fr	iendl	Y
	3. /	7 Indiffere	ent							
3.2	Looking the ACC	back at you ESS student	r RRCC body?	exper	ienc	e, how	wou:	ld y	ou des	scrib
	1. /	Most unfi	lendly		4.	/	Frie	endly	,	
	2. /	Very unfr	iendly		5.	ノブ	Very	fr!	endly	,
	3. /	Indiffere	ent							
			rele	Not evant	Very help	y Un- oful	Helg	eful	Ver help	y ful
3.3	find mos	ful did you t of your R ors to be?	RCC	()	()	()	()
3.4	find mos	ful did you t of your nstructors	1	()	()	()	()
3.5	counsell	ful were th ing service S to you?	e 5 (()	()	()
3.6	How help ACCESS a staff to	ful were th dministrati you?			()	()	()
3.7	Looking	back at you	r đays	at RR	CC wo	uld yo	u sa	y tha	at:	
	a. /	you felt cenvironmen	omforta t at th	ble w	ith t	he gen	eral	SOC:	lal	
	b. /	the general not concern	l socia n me	l env	lronm	ent at	the	col	lege d	iid
	c. /_/	you felt is	Bolated	from	the	genera	1 500	clal		

BACKGROUND	INFORMATION: Here are some questions that might
	affect your ability to complete the course. Please check the appropriate box to indicate your
	please check the appropriate bon to restrict 2
	answer.

	1	Sex:	Mala	,	1	Female	1	١
4.	. 1	sex:	maie		,	remare	,	,

- 4.2 Age at time of enrollment in IBA course _____
- 4.3 Marital Status: Single () Married ()
- 4.4 No of children at time of enrollment in IBA course ____
- 4.5 To what extent was your decision to enroll in the IBA course a result of any of the following:

		Not at all		Some extent		Great extent	
4.6	To graduate and find a job	()	()	()
4.7	I could not get into university	()	()	()
4.8	Most of my friends were attending RRCC	()	()	()
4.9	To please my parents or spouse	()	()	()
4.10	To obtain a specific skill	()	()	()
4.11	To obtain career insights	()	()	()

NOTE 1. If you would like a copy of the results of this survey please check the appropriate box on the enclosed postcard.

THANK YOU FOR COMPLETING THIS QUESTIONNAIRE!!

Please feel free to use the remainder of the page for any comments you may wish to express about your experience in the IBA course.

THANKS AGAIN!

Archie Prescod

COMMENTS:

APPENDIX C

F210 RRCC 2055 Notre Dame Ave Winnipeg MB R3R 3A9 November 1, 1988

Dear

I sent you a questionnaire package on September 30, 1988 and suggested a return date of October 14, 1988 I wonder if you received it.

If you did receive my package, it would be greatly appreciated it you complete and return the questionnaire by November 16, 1988. On the other hand, if you did not receive it please phone me at 633-5930 collect between 8 am and 4 pm any week day.

Your participation in this survey is vital and would be of great value to future students as well as to the ACCESS program in general.

I look forward to hearing from you soon. If on the other hand you have already responded, kindly accept my apologies for bothering you and ignore this letter. Thank you!

Sincerel	·y					
•••••	• • • • • • • • • •	•	•	• 1	• •	•
Archie	Prescod					